
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 
 

  
 
 
 

Meeting: Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 29 January 2015 at 1.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Sam Weston (Tel: 0116 305 6226) 

Email: sam.weston@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. R. B. Begy, OBE 

Cllr. David Bill MBE 
Cllr. J. Boyce 

Cllr. A. V. Greenwood MBE 
Miss. H. Kynaston 

Cllr. William Liquorish 
Col. R. Martin OBE, DL 

 

Cllr. Trevor Pendleton 
Cllr. Byron Rhodes 
Cllr. Sarah Russell 
Cllr. Lynn Senior 
Cllr. D. Slater 
Cllr. Manjula Sood, MBE 
Cllr. Paul Westley 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leics.gov.uk/webcast 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 17 December 
2014.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

2.  
  

Public Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  Proposed Precept 2015/16 and Medium Term Police and Crime (Pages 11 - 48) 



 
 
 
 

  Financial Strategy.  
 

Commissioner 
 

6.  
  

PCC Grant Applications 2015/16.  
 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

(Pages 49 - 54) 

7.  
  

Force Change Programme: Update.  
 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

(Pages 55 - 60) 

8.  
  

Child Sexual Exploitation - Interim Update.  
 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

(Pages 61 - 62) 

9.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Panel is scheduled to take place on 9 February 2015 at 
1.00pm. 
 
 

 

10.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel 
held at County Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 17 December 2014.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC (in the Chair) 
 

Cllr. R. B. Begy, OBE 
Cllr. David Bill MBE 
Cllr. J. Boyce 
Cllr. A. V. Greenwood MBE 
Miss. H. Kynaston 
Cllr. William Liquorish 
Col. R. Martin OBE, DL 
 

Cllr. Trevor Pendleton 
Cllr. Byron Rhodes 
Cllr. Sarah Russell 
Cllr. Lynn Senior 
Cllr. D. Slater 
Cllr. Manjula Sood, MBE 
 

 
In attendance 
 
Sir Clive Loader, Police and Crime Commissioner 
Paul Stock, Chief Executive  
Helen King, Chief Finance Officer 
 

95. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2014 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed subject to the reference to “PCC” on bullet point 5 of Minute 88 being 
amended to “CFO”. 
 

96. Update on Child Sexual Exploitation Report.  
 
The Commissioner was asked to provide a brief update on his review of Child Sexual 
Exploitation cases in Leicestershire.  
 
The review had considered a large number of cases going back to the 1990s, and early 
indications had suggested that there had not been allegations of systematic abuse of 
vulnerable young people committed by a pattern or groups of men which had failed to be 
identified by the Force. However, the Panel were informed that it was apparent that a 
small number of cases would potentially need to be further investigated.  
 
The Commissioner stated that the report arising from the review would be completed in 
early 2015 and would be presented to the Panel thereafter. 
 

97. Public Question Time.  
 
No questions were submitted. 
 

98. Urgent Items.  
 
The Chairman advised that he had agreed to consider the following two urgent items:  
 

• Government consultation exercise “Improving Police Integrity: Reforming Police 
Complaints and Disciplinary Systems”; and  
 

Agenda Item 13



 
 

 

• The consideration of the establishment of task and finish groups. 
 

99. Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Cllr. M. Sood declared a personal interest in respect of all items on the agenda as a 
member of the Police’s Independent Advisory Panel and as the Chairman of the 
Leicester Council of Faiths. 
 

100. Force Change Programme Update.  
 
The Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner concerning an 
update on the Force Change Programme. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 5”, 
is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from a discussion, the following points were noted: 

 

• The Panel was also informed that some issues were identified as part of the HMIC 
inspection which needed resolving to prevent risk arising. There was one medium 
recommendation to further resource the Change Programme. The Commissioner 
reported that this had been achieved quickly by allocating staff to ensure the 
implementation of the Programme; 
 

• The audit was reported as amber-green, the second highest possible rating. The 
Commissioner made the Panel aware that the Joint Audit Risk and Assurance 
Panel produced an Annual Report which could be provided to the Panel; 
 

• The Commissioner continued to have regular public and private meetings with the 
Chief Constable. It was clarified that the Strategic Assurance Board was a private 
meeting and the Joint Audit Risk and Assurance Panel was a public meeting. The 
Panel were informed that the Commissioner and the Chief Constable held a 
weekly meeting which was open to the public, however it was necessary to have 
private meetings due to the sensitive nature of some of the items discussed; 
 

• The Panel was assured that impact assessments were produced as part of the 
Change Programme in order to ensure that it did not have an adverse effect on 
communities; 
 

• The Chairman, on behalf of the Panel, thanked the Force for their efforts in 
engaging with partners on the Force Change Programme; 
 

• The Communications and Engagement Plan was currently being developed and 
discussions were ongoing with partners about ways in which engagement activity 
could be joined up with other events led by partners taking place elsewhere. The 
document would be produced in the New Year and it was intended to share it with 
the Panel; 
 

• There was an overarching Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the Force 
Change Programme. Regular updates were provided on this at Change Board 
meetings.  

 

4



 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the report be noted; 

 
(b) That the EIA for the Force Change Programme be circulated to the Panel. 

 
101. Strategic Update from the Police and Crime Commissioner.  

 
The Panel considered a report from the Commissioner which updated members on key 
strategic areas pertinent to the Commissioner in undertaking his role and a structural 
review of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC). A copy of the report, 
marked “Agenda Item 6”, and a copy of a diagram of the OPCC structure which was 
tabled, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were noted: 
 
Strategic Update 
 

• The Commissioner had renewed the Chef Constable’s contract. He would now be 
in the role until at least June 2018. The Commissioner commented that they had 
developed a strong team and, in giving him the maximum length of contract he 
was able to, he would be allowing the Chief Constable the opportunity to see the 
Force Change Programme through to its conclusion; 
 

• It was felt that, in extending the Chief Constable’s contract, there would be a 
knock-on boost in staff morale at the Force; 
 

• The Force had been subject to a number of HMIC inspections, and had received a 
“good” rating in the PEEL Inspection. The Commissioner expressed his desire to 
achieve the highest rating: “outstanding”. Concerns were shared by the 
Commissioner and the Panel about the burden of the HMIC inspections and the 
resources they required; 
 

• The PCC attended a debrief on the outcome of the HMIC inspections. The 
inspections did not provide a list of recommendations at the end of the process, so 
it therefore required work of the PCC and the Chief Constable in order to establish 
a way forward to improve future results; 
 

• Joint partnerships between the police and communities were considered a 
success, particularly in regard to encouraging crime reporting amongst minority 
groups. There had however been some issues regarding the Force’s contact 
centre staff not being able to understand some of those reporting crime. The PCC 
offered to take this matter back to the Chief Constable. 
 

Structural Review of the OPCC 
 

• HR processes had been completed in regard to the revised structure of the OPCC. 
Vacancies had been made available for internal application before being 
advertised externally in early 2015; 
 

• As a result of significant investment in commissioning, the post of Head of 
Partnerships and Commissioning had been created; 
 

5



 
 

 

• Only one Policy Advisor would be appointed to help the PCC at this time. This was 
an appointment outside of the usual human resources process required of Police 
appointments. A view was expressed by the Panel that the statement in Appendix 
A that Policy Advisors would “normally reflect the Commissioner’s own political 
affiliation” was redundant and, if included, would limit the pool of candidates the 
Commissioner might be able to employ; 
 

• Though the PCC had considered appointing up to five Policy Advisors, he had no 
plans to do so. There was a maximum cost which would mean that the Policy 
Advisor would only work one day per week for £200 per day; 
 

• The Policing Advisor post had been requested from the Force as it enabled high 
performing officers to be exposed to the political environment via the OPCC. It 
would enable collaboration between the Force and the OPCC for the benefit of 
both parties. The Panel felt that there was a danger of confusion between the two 
Advisor posts; 
 

• Some one-off capacity funding had been received by the OPCC from the Ministry 
of Justice which would help to establish the Victims and Witnesses support 
function; 
 

• The following three appointments had recently been made to the new structure: 
Head of Policy and Strategy, Resources Manager and an Assurance Officer. The 
new structure and the posts within it were part of the 2015/16 budget; 
 

• The PCC believed that there was no conflict between officers in the Policy and 
Strategy area of his office and the newly appointed Policy Advisor. The PCC felt 
that his Policy Advisor would provide advice and “horizon scanning” on areas such 
as what other Forces were doing. The Policy Advisor would work alongside the 
PCC. Other officers at the OPCC would engage with the Advisor at the point at 
which a Strategy or Policy was to be created; 
 

• The OPCC website was to be updated by January 2015 in order to meet the 
requirements of the Publications Scheme. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) The content of the report was noted; 
 
(b) That the Panel’s congratulations be extended to the Chief Constable in being 

given a five year extension to his contract. 
 

102. Budget and Proposed Precept 2015/16: Medium Term Financial Plan Update.  
 
The Panel considered a report of the Commissioner concerning the Budget and proposed 
Precept for 2015/16 and an update on the Medium Term Financial Plan. A copy of the 
report, marked “Agenda Item 7”, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were noted: 
 

• The PCC would be looking at a range of options for the precept and budget in light 
of the Government’s settlement announcement. He was currently working on the 
basis of a 2.0% rise in precept. A public consultation exercise was underway on 

6



 
 

 

the budget and precept. A number of responses had been received and this would 
be taken into account prior to coming to the Panel with a precept for 2015/16; 
 

• The Chairman felt that it would be worth the OPCC planning for the longer term, 
beyond 2015/16. He also highlighted the level of costs in the report for fuel and 
contingencies. He asked that these issues could be looked at ahead of the 
January Panel meeting. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

103. Quarter 2 Performance Report.  
 
The Panel considered a report of the Commissioner concerning Quarter 2 Performance 
Report. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 8”, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were noted: 
 

• The Chairman drew the Panel and the PCC’s attention to a letter he had received 
from the Chairman of the County Council's Scrutiny Commission, Mr. S. J. Galton 
CC, which stated that body’s concern in regard to domestic burglary, vehicle crime 
and incidents of violence, all of which showed an increase in incidents when 
compared with the same period in the previous year. The PCC indicated that, 
whilst binary comparisons with the previous year showed a negative picture, 
performance in regard to these crimes was improving. Theft from motor vehicles 
was seen as a serious matter relating to the Force’s performance. The PCC 
continued to challenge the Chief Constable over persistent crime “hotspots”, such 
as this and accordingly initiatives were being put in place to improve public 
awareness of these crimes; 
 

• The Force was placed in a “Most Similar Group” (MSG) with seven other forces. 
There was a view that many of the forces in the MSG were not all similar to 
Leicestershire, though the PCC felt that the Force should aim to be either 
“average” or “above average” when compared with the MSG; 
 

• There was insufficient evidence of the work on commissioning in the report and 
what outcomes this work had led to. The OPCC indicated that he would include 
more of this information in future performance reports; 
 

• Satisfaction levels had decreased across the board. A strategic performance 
group had been assigned at the OPCC to look into this issue. It was known that, 
whilst the public were satisfied with the initial Police response to having reported a 
crime, they appeared to be less satisfied with the follow up on what happened to 
the criminal who had committed the crime against them; 
 

• The Chairman indicated that he would look into the issue of extremism and where 
a report on this might be considered in the future. The PCC indicated that he 
would be willing to bring this issue to the Panel in the future if it would be helpful it 
to be reassured about what the Police was doing on the Prevent Strategy. 

 
 
 

7



 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

104. Best Use of "Stop and Search" Scheme.  
 
The Panel considered a report of the Commission concerning the Force’s use of Stop 
and Search. A copy of the report, marked “Agenda Item 9”, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, it was noted that there was a danger of discrimination to 
certain groups who may in the past have been stopped and searched more than other 
groups. Whilst it was pleasing that the number of stop and searches had reduced, the 
productivity of having carried out less had not been made clear in the report. The PCC 
felt that it was important that stop and searches were carried out humanely and decently 
and that the reasons for doing so were made clear to the public. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

105. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was NOTED that the next meeting of the Panel would be held on 29 January 2015 at 
1.00pm. 
 

106. Urgent Item: Task and Finish Group.  
 
The Chairman had agreed to consider this urgent item in order to enable the Panel to 
have a discussion on the possibility of setting up a task and finish group to look at 
isolated pieces of work on behalf of the PCP. The matter was of an urgent nature as it 
would enable officer’s the time to consider how any approach might work in practice and 
some of the associated issues and prepare a report to be submitted to the Panel in the 
near future. 
 
In addition to the issue of resources and officer support, there was an issue in regard to 
representation of Panel members on any smaller group. It was suggested that it may not 
be worth establishing any task and finish groups until after the 2015 local elections as the 
representation on the PCP was likely to change. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That a report setting out the issues in regard to the establishment of task and finish 
groups be submitted to a later meeting of the Panel. 
 

107. Urgent Item: Government Consultation - "Improving Police Integrity: Reforming Police 
Complaints and Disciplinary Systems".  
 
The Chairman had agreed to consider this urgent item in order to enable a group 
response to be submitted on behalf of the Panel to the Government’s consultation 
exercise on the possibility of PCC’s taking over the role of handling complaints made 
against the Police. The matter was of an urgent nature as a result of the consultation 
deadline, which was 5 February. 
 

8



 
 

 

The Chairman felt that there was a role for the Panel in handling complaints, as it was 
independent of the Police. 
 
The PCC felt that it was important that the role of the Chief Constable was not 
undermined by any changes in the way complaints were handled. The PCC was happy 
for the Panel to see the response issued on behalf of the OPCC and the Force. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Panel members be encouraged to issue a response to the consultation exercise. 
 
 

1.00 - 4.15 pm CHAIRMAN 
17 December 2014 

 

9



10

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

POLICE AND CRIME 

COMMISSIONER FOR 

LEICESTERSHIRE  

POLICE & CRIME PANEL 
 
Report of POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 

Date THURSDAY 29TH JANUARY 2015 
Subject  

PROPOSED PRECEPT 2015/16 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY  

 
Author :  
 

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To present the 2015/16 Precept Proposal and the additional considerations contained 

within it. 
 
2. To present the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and to outline the intended 

plan for finding solutions to address the estimated funding gap. 
 
Recommendation 
 
3. The Police and Crime Panel is asked to: 
 

a. Note the information presented in this report, including the total 2015/16 budget 
requirement (before use of reserves) of £171.573m, which includes a council tax 
requirement for 2015/16 at £53.216m. 
 

b. Support the proposal to increase the 2015/16 Precept for police purposes by 
1.99% to £179.9951. 

 
c. Note the additional considerations included in the precept proposal. 

 
d. Note that any changes required, either by Government grant alterations notified 

through the final settlement or through council tax base and surplus/deficit 
notifications received from the collecting authorities, will be balanced through a 
transfer to or from the Budget Equalisation Reserve (BER). 

 
e. Note the current MTFS, the savings already achieved and plans to identify further 

solutions alongside the requirements of the Police and Crime Plan. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

PAPER MARKED 

 

Agenda Item 511



 

 

Executive Summary 
 
4. This report and the Precept proposal within it is the culmination of several months’ 

work of the OPCC, supported by force colleagues and taking account of key 
government announcements. Following the announcement of the provisional Police 
Grant settlement, the further increase in top slicing for 2015/16, and after taking into 
account the views received through consultation by local residents of Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland, the Police and Crime Commissioner has considered 
current and future funding levels, together with a consideration of the Chancellor’s 
2014 Autumn Statement. In addition, the PCC has taken into account the adequacy 
and level of reserves and impact of future financial challenges in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

 
5. After careful consideration of these factors, Sir Clive is proposing a precept increase 

of 1.99% for the 2015/16 financial year in order to build a sustainable base budget 
and to maintain and safeguard policing services where possible across the entire 
force area of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 
6. In addition, mindful of the medium and longer term funding challenges in the MTFS, 

Sir Clive has included within his precept proposal a determination that specific areas 
will be prioritised by the force to identify a minimum of a further £2.5m in revenue 
savings to be released in 2016/17 and future years and which will not only 
complement the existing work of Project Edison and the force change team, but will 
also enable a real cashable saving moving forward. The force will report to the PCC 
at the Strategic Assurance Board by the end of June 2015 and provide proposals on 
the following areas: 

 

• Further recommendations into Force structural reform 

• A review of productivity across the force 

• Proposals for savings in middle and back office functions 

• Further demand management benefits 

• Continued vigour with the Volunteers in Policing (ViP) strategy 

• Wider local public sector “join up”:  
 

7. Furthermore, in line with the PCC’s focus on making neighbourhoods safe and 
protecting the vulnerable in our communities, he is earmarking a maximum of £2m 
from the Budget Equalisation Reserve to provide ‘invest to save’ or seed funding to 
support strategic priorities with partners on such issues as victims, safeguarding, 
CSE, cyber-crime, mental health and any other emerging priorities from the joint 
review of partnerships and partnership working. It is intended that oversight of this 
approach will be the responsibility of the refreshed SPB and its supporting structures 
and, whilst the detail needs to be fully scoped, this funding will only be released if 
there is a clear, costed business case that supports the achievement of improved 
outcomes. 

 
8. This precept proposal will also build on and maintain the 2014/15 precept strategy 

which: 
 

• Increased the precept by 1.5% to help build the base following the unprecedented 
and unexpected additional top slicing of £1.6m applied to the Police grant 
settlement for 2014/15; 

 
 

 

12



 

 

• Increased and maintained PCSO resources to 251 over three years. This increase 
took place to maintain operational resilience and minimise the impact of any 
Edison structural changes on neighbourhood policing. In addition, these resources 
were targeted to support the force in prioritising community and neighbourhood 
safety, particularly in regard to ASB hotspots; and 
 

• Secured a commitment from the force to deliver the Volunteers (ViP) Strategy 
over 3 years. 
 

9. This precept proposal supports the priorities identified within the Police and Crime 
Plan to make neighbourhoods safe and to protect the vulnerable. Sir Clive has 
listened to the views of local residents, the majority of whom have supported an 
increase to the precept of 1.99% in line with the MTFS, to build the base budget and 
maintain services where possible. At the same time, the precept proposal has 
secured commitment from the force to prioritise work on identifying savings in key 
areas; furthermore, the ring fenced one-off investment of £2m reflects the importance 
the PCC places on partnership working to deliver key strategic priorities, without 
placing ongoing pressure on the base budgets of the PCC and key partners. 

 
The Provisional Grant Settlement 
 
10. On 18 December 2014 the Minister for Policing, Criminal Justice and Victims, the Rt 

Hon Mike Penning announced the provisional funding allocations for policing bodies in 
England and Wales for the financial year 2015/16 (the final figures are expected in 
February 2015).   

 
11. The grant report confirms that funding for Leicestershire Police will be reduced by 

£5.7m (4.7%) in 2015/16 (from £120.2m in 2014/15) to £114.5m. This is a cut of £1m 
(1.5%) more than previously indicated in the Comprehensive Spending Review 2010 
(CSR 2010) announced in the Chancellor’s 2013 Autumn Statement. 

 
12. Details of the revenue allocations have only been made available for 2015/16.  The 

availability of only one year’s figures makes medium term financial planning more 
uncertain, and prone to risk, especially in the context of the requirement to have a 
Police and Crime Plan for the period to 31 March 2017. 

 
13. In addition, on the 18 December 2014, the DCLG announced that there will be 

additional council tax freeze grant for those authorities and policing bodies that do not 
increase their rate of council tax or precept for 2015/16.  That grant will be available at 
an amount that would be equivalent to a 1% increase in Band D council tax. The 
provisional allocation for Leicestershire has been notified at £582k and there is 
unfortunately no commitment regarding the continuation of council tax freeze grant or 
further freeze grants after 2015/16. 

 
14. While it is welcomed that there is additional grant made available to help to reduce the 

burden of costs on local council tax payers, the lack of forward planning in respect of 
the freeze grant inevitably provides continuing uncertainty.   

 
15. From  2014/15 onwards, policing bodies will be receiving their formula funding solely 

from the Home Office which subsumes former DCLG grants.  The grant allocation 
continues to be calculated through the four-block model, which has been subject to 
limited technical and data updates.   

 
 

13



 

 

16. The Police and Crime Commissioners Treasurers Society (PACCTS) in conjunction 
with PCCs and their CFOs have scrutinised the key elements of the provisional Police 
Grant Settlement and have identified that one of the most significant impacts is the 
top slicing of Police Grant to fund central initiatives.   

 
17. A summary of the settlement is shown in the table below: 
 

Funding Source 
2014/15 
Final (£'m) 

2015/16 
Planned (£'m) 

Police Grant 70.005 65.720 

Business Rates & Revenue Support Grant 41.278 39.876 

Precept (1.99% increase in 2015/16) 51.083 53.216 

Localised Council Tax Support 7.020 7.020 

2011/12 & 2013/14 Council Tax Freeze Grants 1.911 1.911 

Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus (estimate) 0.762 0.959 

Total 172.059 168.702 

 
18. PACCTS have advised that top slicing nationally is £176.8m (excluding PFI and 

Ordnance Survey), where Leicestershire’s element is estimated at approximately 
£2.6m.  In 2014/15, the comparative top slice for these elements was over £90m (of 
which Leicestershire’s element was approximately £1.6m). Following the 2014/15 
grant settlement, a number of these (but not all) were foreseen and included within the 
forecasting for 2015/16 and beyond. 

 
19. Key points in relation to the top slice issues include the following: 
 

• Some of the top slice elements, namely the Innovation Fund, PFI, Special Grant 
and a new Police Knowledge fund (£5m details are still awaited) will be returned to 
individual Forces, some as competitive funding pots. 
 

• The top slice has ceased for ICT charges and PCCs will now be meeting these 
costs locally. However, the anticipated charges are significantly higher than the 
share previously top sliced (the details of which are currently being assessed). 

 

• The Police Innovation Fund has increased from £50m to £70m (implying an 
increase of circa £0.5m per force). 

 

• £30m has been top sliced for the Independent Police Complaints Commission 
(IPCC) - increased from £18.4m in 2014/15. 

 

• Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) is further supported by a 
£9.4m top slice, consistent with 2014/15. 

 
20. Financial prudence dictates an assumption that this grant reduction is permanent and 

therefore the long term impact on the MTFS must be considered alongside the 
precept options presented in this report. 

 
21. Damping has again been applied to the funding allocations to ensure that all policing 

bodies receive a 5.1% cash reduction in overall formula funding (applied to Police 
Grant and Business Rates) in 2015/16 when compared to 2014/15 and equates to a 
total cash reduction of £299m in the national police funding envelope.   

 
 

14



 

 

22. In line with other authorities subject to formula damping, Leicestershire Police is  
disadvantaged by this arrangement as it would receive about £5.6m more each year if 
the formula were allowed to work in full, i.e. if the floor was funded from sources other 
than those policing bodies whose formula increases are capped. 

 
23. As mentioned above, council tax freeze grant is payable to policing bodies if they do 

not increase the basic amount of council tax in 2015/16 compared to that for 2014/15.  
The grant is equivalent to a 1% increase in the PCC’s 2014/15 Band D amount 
multiplied by the council tax base for 2014/15 but unadjusted for billing authority 
reductions to be awarded under local council tax reduction schemes.  If the precept 
were frozen for 2015/16, the grant would be payable.  Previous years’ freeze grants 
have been built into baseline allocations but it is currently unclear what happens to the 
2015/16 grant after the general election in May 2015.  

 
24. In the provisional grant settlement, counter terrorism specific grant will remain as set 

out in the CSR 2010, but allocations will not be made known until early 2015.  Whilst 
the provisional settlement assumed that the allocation will remain broadly the same as 
that for 2014/15, since that date, additional national funding has been provided in year 
for 2014/15 and any impact on 2015/16 and future years is now awaited. 

 
25. The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) will also receive a specific 

grant for the Localisation of Council Tax Support (LCTS).  This scheme replaced the 
council tax benefit scheme (CTB) in 2013/14, and is administered locally by council 
tax collecting authorities.  As a local scheme, the grant previously given to collecting 
authorities to reflect actual expenditure on LCTS is distributed to collecting and 
precepting authorities. The sum allocated to the OPCC for Leicestershire for 2015/16 
is £7.02m which is the same amount allocated in 2014/15. 

 
26. The budget includes an allocation for Victims and Witnesses Commissioning based 

on the provisional notification received in April 2014 of £1.102m. This grant is 
provided by the Ministry of Justice directly, was not included within the provisional 
settlement and therefore confirmed figures are not yet available for 2015/16.   

 
Police and Crime Plan - Precept Considerations 
 
27. The Police and Crime Plan and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) have 

been prepared in line with the plans outlined by the PCC to the Police and Crime 
Panel in January 2013. 

 
28. The precept proposals which underpin the 2013/17 Police and Crime Plan and MTFS 

and their comparison with actual precept decisions and the MTFS are detailed below:  
 

 Increase in precept (%) 

 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 

MTFS and Police and Crime Plan January 2013 0% 0% 2% 2% 

Precept Determination Implemented 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

0% 1.5%  
1.99% 

 
1.99% 

 
29. As detailed in the above table, the Panel will note that the precept proposal within this 

report is consistent with the plans underpinning the Police and Crime Plan 2013/17, 
with the exception of 2014/15 where the PCC increased the precept as a result of the 
unexpected reduction in the settlement, due to the implementation and impact of top 
slicing to central government departments. 

 

15



 

 

Council Tax Referendum Limit 
 
30. The Localism Act 2011 requires authorities, including Police and Crime 

Commissioners, to determine whether their “relevant basic amount of council tax” for 
a year is excessive, as such increases will trigger a council tax referendum. From 
2012/13, the Secretary of State is required to set principles annually, determining 
what increase is deemed excessive.  

 
31. For the financial year 2014/15, the referendum limit was set in February 2014, which 

was after the date of the Panel meeting on the precept and subsequently planning 
was difficult within this timescale. However, the earlier notification (December 2014) 
in respect of the coming year is welcomed and for 2015/16, the principles state that 
an increase of more than 2% in the basic amount of council tax between 2014/15 and 
2015/16 would be seen as excessive. 

 
32. For 2015/16, the relevant basic amount is calculated as follows: 
 
 Council Tax Requirement  =  Relevant basic amount of Council tax 
  Total tax base for Area 
 
33. Therefore, the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland calculation for 2015/16 is: 
 

£53,215,735   =  £179.9951 (1.99%) 
   295,651.02 
  

With a 2% increase the Band D equivalent charge would be £180.01 and under the 
regulations the Council Tax needs to be 1p (or more) less than the referendum limit 
which equates to a Band D charge of £180.00 or less. As the proposed increase 
rounds to £180.00 it is in line with those requirements. 
 

34. The cost of a referendum for a proposal to set a Council Tax increase in excess of 
1.99% is significant, this would fall to the PCC (and importantly the residents of 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland) thus needing to be built into the increase 
sought. 

 
35. If a referendum were held to increase the Policing precept above 1.99%, on the same 

day as the General Election and district council elections in May, it would cost 
approximately £650k. That would rise to £1.2m if held on an alternative day.  

 

36. Furthermore, if a “no” vote was returned in such a referendum, there could be a further 
cost of £1 million to re-issue council tax bills to every home. This would increase the total 
potential cost to between £1.650m and £2.2m if the referendum were unsuccessful. 

 

37. The Panel will, therefore, be unsurprised  that the PCC has no intention to propose a 
precept which will trigger a referendum.  Therefore, once the tax base levels have been 
formally advised by the District and Borough Councils, should there be any subsequent 
revisions which affect the above calculation, the Budget Equalisation Reserve will be used 
to balance the impact of any changes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16



 

 

 

The Financial Challenge – Savings Already Achieved 
 
38. At the time of the PCC’s commencement in office, Leicestershire Police had already 

demonstrated a good record in achieving efficiency savings, with some £23m being 
removed from the base budget in the two years to 31 March 2013. 

 
39. However, as highlighted to the Panel in January 2013, the financial challenge 

continued and the MTFS which underpinned delivery of the Police and Crime Plan 
showed a significant shortfall each year to 2016/17 as follows: 

 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

£0.446m £6.085m £12.820m £20.260m 

 
40.    The Police and Crime Plan recognised this increased financial challenge to its 

delivery and included within it Strategic Priority 18 which stated: 
 

“with our staff and partners, transform the way we protect our communities and 
deliver over £20m in (revenue) savings by 2016”.   

 
41. The PCC set the Chief Constable the challenge of developing a change programme 

which would address the gaps identified following the CSR in June 2013 (which 
revised the figures in the MTFS). The Police and Crime panel at its meeting in August 
2013 received a presentation, which included the change programme. This included 
the graph below, which demonstrated the identified gap and the proposal to close this 
gap by 2016/17. 

 
 
42. Since January 2013, the MTFS has been revised regularly to take into account 

emerging issues and changes to the finance settlement. The roll forward base budget 
for 2015/16 takes into account the fact that the Force has now delivered over £38m in 

150

155

160

165

170

175

180

185

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

Non-staff, Middle & Back Office Savings

Modernisation

Existing reviews of delivery structures

£1.5mFirm proposals £0 £0

Proposals being developed (target)

Reserve / Precept Strategy

£2.9m £3.8m £14.9m

£0.1 – £2.9m £0.5m £0

Further collaboration, outsourcing & partnering

Delivery of agreed transformed policing model

Estimated 

budget

requirement

Estimated 

funding

D
e
li
v
e
ry

 
m

e
th

o
d
s

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

£19.9m gap£8.6m gap

Demand reduction through transformative change

and commissioning

£4.4m gap

[ Figures as at 28 August 2013 ]

17



 

 

cashable efficiency savings since 2009/10 in response to Home Office funding 
reductions arising from the Government’s austerity measures. The force has 
responded well to the financial challenge which commenced under the governance of 
the Police Authority and has continued during the tenure of the PCC. 

 
43. The PCC has received regular updates and officers from the OPCC have attended 

the force change board to challenge and scrutinise the change plan, its timescales 
and to receive assurance on its implementation. Regular updates on the scrutiny 
applied by the PCC and assurances received from the force on the implementation of 
the change programme have been provided to the Police and Crime Panel since 
Autumn 2014 and this will continue during 2015/16. 

 
44. The graph below shows that whilst funding levels have reduced since the 

appointment of the PCC, success has been achieved in also reducing the ongoing 
budget requirement and this has been reduced year on year. Despite this, the Force 
has still had to identify in year savings to reduce the gap further:  

 

  
 
1. £6.5m of savings were removed from the budget requirement for 13/14 

 
2. A further £8.2m was removed from the budget requirement for 14/15. 

 
3. A further £6.9m was removed from the budget requirement for 15/16. 

 
4. A further £2.1m has been removed and £4m still to be identified for 16/17. 

 
In 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 require further base budget reductions.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18



 

 

45. Savings identified and removed from the budget requirement for the period 13/14 to 
16/17 reflect the shift from mainly transactional savings in 2013/14 to more 
transformational savings by 2016/17 as follows:   

  

 2013/14 
£m 

2014/15 
£m 

2015/16 
£m 

2016/17 
£m 

Transformational (Edison and 
modernisation) 

1.4 5.4 4.3 2.1(and 
TBC) 

Transactional:     

Police Pay 2.3 1.1 0.8 TBC 

Police Staff 0.4 0.2 0.6 TBC 

Non Pay 2.4 1.6 1.2 TBC 

 6.5 8.2 6.9 2.1 

 
The Financial Challenge – Savings Still Required 
 
46. Whilst the force has responded well to the financial challenges to date and Project 

Edison (which is being rolled out fully in February 2015) has been successful in 
achieving significant savings through the identification and implementation of a new 
target operating model, the financial challenge continues throughout the medium term 
as evidenced in the updated MTFS in paragraphs 79 to 88.  

 
47. Whereas the main focus during 2014/15 has been to identify a new operating model 

which releases significant savings and to implement it effectively, opportunities for 
savings have also been taken forward when the opportunity has arisen and regular 
dialogue, scrutiny and challenge between the OPCC and the force shows that the 
force has not lost sight of the savings which remain to be realised from the current 
and future challenges. 

 
48. Whilst detailed plans will be provided by the force in the coming months for discussion 

and consideration with the PCC, they are not yet refined enough to capture as savings 
within the budget and there are £4m of savings still required for 2016/17 (£6.1m less 
£2.1m in respect of project Edison which will not be fully realised due to officer attrition 
until August 2017, see paragraph 66). In respect of these savings, the force has 
identified a number of areas which it is progressing to close the funding gap as part of 
the change programme following project Edison and these are highlighted further by 
the Chief Constable in his statement at paragraph 120 in the report.  

 
49.  In reviewing the next steps for the change programme (post implementation of 

Edison) in identifying savings, the PCC is mindful of the work by the force and is 
conscious that whilst areas are currently being scoped on identifying the remaining 
£4m funding gap in 2016/17 and working towards the MTFS gap identified for 
2019/20, these remain at a high level with the detail still to be worked through. 

 
50. The PCC is supportive of this work, and recognising other national considerations and 

savings areas being progressed, wants to support the force in continuing this 
momentum by identifying areas he wishes to be prioritised for review.  Consequently, 
the PCC has agreed with the Chief Constable, the need to identify, by the end of June 
2015, a series of proposals (with timescales for achievement) which prioritise specific 
savings areas and would create a minimum of a further £2.5million in revenue 
savings. The areas he has sought specific proposals from the force on are as follows: 

 
 

19



 

 

1. Further insight into Force structural reform: a review of rank structures, 
supervisory levels and ratios and consideration whether any further changes to 
shift patterns may be required. Timescales for bringing in further structural 
changes for future phases of the force transformation programme are to be 
identified; 
 

2. An honest review of Productivity across the Force: is the organisation working 
to its full capacity? Is the Force equipped with the most up to date mobile 
technology to allow front line officers the best opportunities to be productive? Can 
more be achieved by looking at staff mix, absenteeism and abstractions and other 
people-focused areas of activity?;  

 
3. Proposals for savings to middle and back office: building on work undertaken 

prior to the PCC’s arrival, constructive and achievable options for bringing down 
the cost of these functions by creative and innovative solutions; 

 
4. More Demand Management benefits: some of this work has commenced 

through the Edison programme. However, the PCC is keen to see that Predictive 
Demand Management becomes the norm;  

 
5. Continued vigour with the Volunteers Strategy: identifying even more 

innovative solutions in supporting the workforce with the Volunteers in Policing 
team looking for new and challenging proposals; 

 
6. Identifying effective opportunities to work with partners:  the PCC, the force 

and partners have started this conversation in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland and there is a real opportunity to continue the momentum and at the 
same time release much-needed savings for the PCC, the force and partners in 
the process. 

 
51. Furthermore, the PCC is setting out his commitment to working with partners and is 

including within this Precept proposal his concern that, in addition to the financial 
challenges for the force, there are also significant challenges faced in areas such as 
Cyber-criminality, CSE and counter-terrorism. To this end, he is earmarking a 
maximum of £2m to provide opportunities to increase resources in these highly 
complex and emotive areas. This will be in support of strategic priorities identified with 
partners. This is detailed further in paragraphs 97 and 98. 

 
2015/16 – Base Budget preparation, approach and scrutiny  
 
52. In 2008/09 the Force introduced a risk based approach to budget setting which 

sought to align the budget process with identified strategic operational priorities and 
risks. 

 
53. The Force continues to consider key corporate risks when setting the budget.  

Essentially these risks are operational and organisational around managing people, 
infrastructure assets, information etc.  The Force has maintained and kept up to date 
its Corporate Risk Register that sets out how it intends to control and mitigate these 
risks. 

 
54. The Force continues to identify its Strategic Operational Risks as part of the National 

Intelligence Model (NIM).  This has been used to inform resourcing strategies at both 
Directorate and Departmental level. 

 

20



 

 

55. Each year, the Force undertakes a major exercise to review its operational risks 
which are set out within the “Force Strategic Assessment”.  This work was also 
informed by the work of the Regional Collaboration Project Team looking at the extent 
of collaborative opportunities across the East Midlands. 

 
56. The purpose of the Force Strategic Assessment is to identify those areas of greatest 

risk.  Essentially a high risk area is where only limited resources had been allocated 
to address a substantial risk i.e. this creates a significant risk gap. 

 
57. A key part of this work was to bring together the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and Senior Officers across the Force, to consider the key risks that the 
Force faces and how best to address them. 

 
58. The revised five year financial forecast and, in particular, the 2015/16 budget 

contained within this report aligns the Force’s financial resources to risk and therefore 
is key to the Force’s performance management regime. 

 
59. The budget takes into account the fact that the Force has delivered over £38m in 

cashable efficiency savings since 2009/10 in response to Home Office funding 
reductions arising from the Government’s austerity measures. 

 
60. The CFO has worked closely with the force finance team throughout the year during 

the budget monitoring process and in the preparation of the budget for 2015/16. In 
respect of the budget, this has included (but was not limited to), the identification and 
agreement of assumptions and methodology and challenge and scrutiny of the 
budget workings. In addition, where the CFO has sought clarification, or changes, 
these have been discussed and amendments made where appropriate. 

 
61. The PCC, together with the CFO and his CEO have held regular discussions with the 

CC and his team throughout the year, particularly prior to and throughout the budget 
preparation process and the announcement and interpretation of the settlement.   

 
62. These discussions have culminated in a full discussion of the budget requirement, the 

precept options available, a review of the MTFS and associated risks and scrutiny 
and challenge by the PCC and his team at the Strategic Assurance Board on the 14th 
January 2015 to ensure the precept proposal has been informed by relevant 
information. 

 
2015/16 Revenue Budget  
 
63. The base budget for 2015/16 has been built based upon the ‘budget rules’ which are 

consistent with previous years and the risk based approach outlined earlier in the 
report. 

 
64. In line with this approach, the Panel is advised that the base budget 

requirement in 2015/16 is £171.573m (before the use of reserves), which 
reduces to £168.702m (after the intended use of reserves).  

 
This equates to a reduction of £3.905m from the 2014/15 level of £172.607m 
(after the use of reserves).  

 
65. The budget requirement is detailed in Appendix 1 and the PCC has undertaken full 

scrutiny of the budget options with the Force and not least in discussions at the 
Strategic Assurance Board. 

 

21



 

 

66. There are a number of areas where it may be helpful to highlight significant variations 
to the Panel in respect of frontline officers and they are as follows: 

 
Police Officers - The base budget reflects part and full year savings resulting from 
the new operating model in Project Edison which is being implemented from February 
2015. The combined effect of these changes will reduce full time equivalent police 
officer numbers by 110 from 1,949 in April 2015 to 1,839 by March 2016.  The Project 
Edison target police officer strength is 1,726 which will be achieved by August 2017 
based upon current projected attrition levels. 

 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) -The PCSO establishment for 
2014/15 of 223 was increased to 251 in line with the precept strategy and 
commitment by the PCC to increase and maintain this presence until March 2017, 
prioritising neighbourhood policing and minimising the local impact of changes during 
the implementation and embedding of the new operating model.  
Under Project Edison, the new operating structure supports a target staffing level of 
193 PCSOs. In his precept proposal, the PCC has reinforced his commitment  to 
neighbourhood policing and his proposal includes maintaining his 2014/15 
commitment to not only fund the additional PCSOs to April 2017 but also to continue 
at the existing establishment level, the cost of which is being funded from the 
earmarked PCSO Reserve.   
 

Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC)  
 
67. As highlighted to the panel in December 2014, the next financial year will continue to 

be challenging for the OPCC. The new Victim First integrated service will be launched 
in October 2015, bringing with it for the first time a truly innovative approach to 
supporting victims and witnesses, with a “single point of contact” service delivery 
model. It was anticipated that the draft net budget for the OPCC, after taking into 
account additional Victims & Witnesses capacity requirements and grant (to support 
the additional Commissioning resources required to deliver the new V&W agenda) 
and reserve would remain at the existing level of £1.031m for 2015/16. In addition, 
further one-off Home Office grant funding has also been received to support the 
implementation and development of this area and this has (and will continue to be) 
utilised on a temporary support basis. 

 
68. Following a review undertaken by the Chief Executive the Panel is advised that a 

further saving has been identified in the structure of £6k and this has enabled the 
PCC to reduce the total cost of his office to £1.025m. This may appear to the Panel to 
represent only a small reduction, but taken with the additional responsibilities passing 
to the OPCC during this financial year it represents a significant achievement. 

 
69. A copy of the OPCC budgeted establishment for 2015/16 is attached at Appendix 2 

and reflects the comments made by the Panel (a change has been made to the 
previous Policing Advisor title which is now the Policing Coordinator role). 

 
70.    In June 2013 the Panel were advised that the OPCC had adopted the Force strategy 

of utilising accommodation more intensively, and reducing the number of cellular 
offices, and the OPCC offices were reconfigured to make them open plan. This 
enabled the entire OPCC staff complement to be housed in no more space than was 
occupied by the previous Police Authority team. The panel are advised that this 
accommodation is still sufficient to meet OPCC needs where permanent staff  have 
all been allocated desks and hot desking is available for temporary staff or visitors. 

 

22



 

 

71. The draft OPCC Budget for 2015/16 was tabled at the December 2014 Panel meeting 
and the final budget requirement is summarised below as follows: 

 
 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

 Budget 
 

£000 

Outturn 
 

£000 

Original 
Budget 

£000 

Initial 
Draft 
£000 

Final 
Budget 

£000 

Staffing, Agency and Comms  834 876 807 847 841 

Contribution towards force shared 
Executive Support and Communications  

- - - 64 64 

Legal Costs, Audit Fees,  105 79 101 97 97 

Transport, Independent Custody Visitors 
,training and recruitment  expenses 

21 57 31 23 23 

Ethics Committee - - - - 15 

Policy Advisor , JARAP and Office costs 86 76 92 64 64 

Cost before funding and reserve 1,046 1,088 1,031 1,095 1,104 

V&W Grant funding - - - (64) (64) 

Transitional Reserve - (42) - - (15) 

Net of funding and reserve 1,046 1,046 1,031 1,031 1,025 

 
72. The only changes to the draft budget from that discussed at the Panel meeting in 

December 2014 are: 
 

• the reduced cost of the structure identified above; and 
 

• the creation of a £15k budget for the establishment of a new Ethics, Integrity and 
Complaints Committee. This will be funded by the OPCC Transitional Reserve 
whilst the work of the Committee is embedded. 

 
73. The balance on the Transitional Reserve (set aside to use towards set up costs and 

new initiatives and significant structural changes) is currently £165K and this will 
reduce to £150K for 2015/16 in light of the new Committee highlighted above. 

 
Commissioning  
 
74. In September 2014, the panel received a report on the revised Commissioning 

Framework which includes the new Commissioning arrangements for Victims and 
Witnesses (which have been the subject of separate reports to the Police and Crime 
Panel during 2014/15).  

 
75. These new arrangements are supported by specific V&W grant from the Ministry of 

Justice and whilst the final allocations have still not been confirmed for 2015/16, the 
provisional funding of £1.102m is included within the budget proposals. Of this, £64k 
is set aside to support the additional staffing capacity requirements to deliver these 
responsibilities and £1.038m earmarked for the commissioning of services for victims 
and witnesses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



 

 

Capital Programme 2015/16 to 2017/18 and Treasury Management - Investment 
Strategy 
 
76. The capital programme has been considered and reviewed as part of the budget 

requirement and discussions with the force and a summary is set out in Appendix 3 to 
this report. The revenue consequences of the proposed Capital Programme have 
been taken into account in the development of the revenue budget, and the required 
prudential indicators are also set out in Appendix 3.  

 
77. The Treasury Management report is set out at Appendix 4. This is required by the 

Code of Treasury Management published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) and explains the Investment Strategy in relation to 
reserves and balances. 

 
  78. The OPCC receives regular updates on the Capital Programme and Treasury 

Management Strategy as part of the budget monitoring process and these were fully 
considered in the budget and precept discussion at the Strategic Assurance Board on 
14th January 2015. 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 
79. It is a statutory requirement that the Police and Crime Plan must cover the period until 

the end of the year of the next election for PCCs, in this case to 31 March 2017.  It is 
therefore appropriate that the MTFS covers not just the same period but extends this 
to 2019/20 to provide a longer term view. 

 
80. However, this is not without its challenges, given that there is only a firm Government 

announcement of funding for 2015/16, that the impact of LCTS remains 
unpredictable, that there is at least another CSR between now and then, and that 
there is a formula review to be undertaken.  Any one of these makes funding 
predictions challenging, but combined they make forecasting very difficult. This is in 
line with the challenges other authorities are also facing. 

 
81. During 2014/15, the PCC restated the priorities set out in the Police and Crime Plan 

which shows how it is intended to balance the budget over the medium term, and with 
an organisation that is sustainable financially and in operational delivery. 

 
82. The previous plan and MTFS have been updated to reflect estimated funding and 

budget requirements to 2019/20 under the three options of 0%, 1.5% and 1.99%.   
 
83. Key assumptions in seeking to outline the financial challenge for the medium term 

are: 
 

•  That the council tax base grows at 1% per annum;  
 

• All existing Council Tax Freeze grants already included in the base budget 
remain; 
 

• That 2015/16 is the final year for the award of new Council Tax Freeze Grants  
 

• Government funding reductions are 3.2% each and every year from 2016/17 
onwards; 
 

24



 

 

• The collecting authorities’ LCTS schemes deliver a cash neutral position when 
combined with the council tax support grant from the Government; 
 

• Pay and price increases are assumed at realistic levels which are comparable 
with other PCCs; 
 

• No additional, unfunded responsibilities are given to the PCC; 
 

• The BER can fund any necessary invest to save projects and further borrowing 
beyond the capital programme is not required; 

 
84. With the above assumptions, the MTFS reveals a funding gap across the three 

options as set out in the graph below: 
 

 
 

85. Whilst it is recognised that the forthcoming General Election in May 2015 and the 
PCC elections in May 2016 could affect the funding levels, budget requirements and 
precept strategy, the above graph shows that even with an assumed precept increase 
of 1.99% per year, there is still a significant funding gap of £16.9m by 2019/20. This 
gap increases by a further £5.04m if precept increases are assumed at 0% per annum 
until 2019/20 to £21.96m. 

 
86. The most significant impact on the 2016/17 funding gap increase is the change to 

Employers National Insurance contributions, which are estimated at £2.1m. 
 
87. The Force has already made significant steps in identifying savings for 2016/17 

through Project Edison.  However, there remains a residual funding gap of £1.6m in 
2015/16 and £6.1m in 2016/17. This includes £2.1m planned savings in police officer 
costs that cannot be realised until 2017/18 due to police officer attrition rates. 

 
88. The table below summarises the shortfall year on year under each of the three options 

modelled in the MTFS. 
 
 
 
 
 

25



 

 

 2015/16 
£m 

2016/17 
£m 

2017/18 
£m 

2018/19 
£m 

2019/20 
£m 

Option 1 (0% Increase) 2.03 7.68 12.34 17.36 21.96 

Option 2 (1.5% Increase) 1.83 6.67 10.49 14.65 18.35 

Option 3 (1.99% Increase) 1.58 6.14 9.68 13.54 16.92 

 
Use of Reserves and Balances 
 
89. In considering the precept options, it is important to look closely at the size, level and 

type of reserves to ensure that they are adequate to cover the purposes for which 
they are held and to provide some robustness against the risks identified within the 
budget. 

 
90. Three types of reserves are held; the General Reserve, Earmarked Reserves and the 

Budget Equalisation Reserve. These are explained further below: 
 
91. The General Reserve of £6m represents 3.5% of the net budget requirement for 

2015/16 and is within (but at the lower end of) recommended audit levels of 3-5%.  It 
is prudent to have such a reserve at this level to enable the organisation to withstand 
unexpected events that have financial implications.  There are no planned uses of this 
reserve during 2015/16. 

 
92. Earmarked Reserves of £4.8m represent funds set aside for specific future purposes. 

There are 10 of these reserves and the most significant are: 
 

• Capital reserve - £0.4m, although most will be spent by 31 March 2015;  
 

• Proceeds of Crime Act - £0.7m – reserve to smooth the peaks and troughs of 
flow of proceeds (£0.126m is planned to be utilised in 2015/16); 

 

• PCSO reserve - £2.1m – to support the continued employment of PCSOs in 
future years as grant and local authority support reduces.  In line with the 
2014/15 budget and precept strategy, £0.686m is planned to be utilised in 
2015/16. 

 
93. The Budget Equalisation Reserve (BER) is currently £10.1m and has been created 

over recent years from a combination of the impact of effective efficiency programmes 
and through financial prudence. The PCC advised the panel in January 2013 as part 
of the presentation on the precept and the Police and Crime Plan, that the purpose of 
this reserve was two-fold: 

 
1. To fund “invest to save” opportunities and other new initiatives and investments 

(for example investment in the Change Programme to deliver Operation Edison 
and future savings); 

 
2.  To recognise that some savings would take time to implement (particularly in 

respect of Police Officers where attrition is at a lower level than reductions 
required) and to smooth the impact of these changes. 

 
94. Whilst it is likely that the change programme will continue to deliver further sustainable 

efficiencies, until these are fully quantified and timescales established, it is prudent not 
to include these within the budget estimates.  

 

26



 

 

95. In line with the purpose of the Budget Equalisation Reserve (to smooth the effects of 
timing of Edison savings), the PCC will draw down £1.58m (based on a 1.99% 
precept increase) from the BER to balance the budget for 2015/16. In addition, 
there will be the possibility that invest to save initiatives will be funded from the BER in 
2015/16 such as match funding for Home Office Innovation Fund bids if successful. 

 
96. Whilst the BER is currently at a prudent level, if this were used solely for the purpose 

of meeting the shortfalls in funding identified, the reserve would be exhausted in just 
over two years. Therefore, ongoing sustainable savings need to be identified and 
implemented. 

 
97. In addition to smoothing, the second purpose of the reserve is to fund invest to save 

and other new initiatives and investments and it is in line with this purpose that the 
PCC wishes to prioritise his work in making neighbourhoods safe and protecting the 
vulnerable in our communities. To this end, he is earmarking a maximum of £2m 
from the Budget Equalisation Reserve to provide capacity and capability 
investments and to support strategic priorities with partners on such issues as victims, 
safeguarding, CSE, Cyber-crime, mental health and any other emerging priorities from 
the joint review of partnerships and partnership working.  

 
98. It is anticipated that oversight of this approach will be the responsibility of the 

refreshed Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) and its supporting structures and as the 
detail develops, it is hoped that partners would also want to seek opportunities to 
match-fund or pool financial resources for such initiatives. This will help to 
complement the work already in place in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to 
bring about a more joined-up, problem-solving approach to the challenges all partners 
are facing. 

 
Precept Options – Council Tax Consultation 
 
99. During November and December 2014, a survey of 863 residents of Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland was commissioned, advising that: 
 

“…the Commissioner is continuing to seek to drive efficiencies through the 
Force to minimise the council tax burden on local residents, but should this not 
be possible, he is seeking your views on what you should pay towards policing 
for 2015/16.”  
 

100. The survey highlighted the savings already identified for the period of the Police and 
Crime Plan and sought views on options of 0%, 1.5% and 2% through the Force’s 
external survey company, and via an online form on the Force and OPCC websites. 
 

101. The survey of 700 residents provided a confidence level of 95% (in line with Home 
Office and HMIC guidelines) to be representative at Force level, by gender, age and 
ethnicity.  Although numerically at first sight there appears to be a slight under 
representation by BME respondents in the survey when compared to the population, 
statistically it is within reasonable parameters. The number of respondents for each of 
the LPU areas endeavoured to be proportionate to the population of that area 
(Census 2011). 

 
102. The online survey was completed by 163 respondents (compared to 23 in 2014/15) 

but was not subject to the sampling methodology therefore it is important to highlight 
this survey method is not entirely proportionate.  This is most evident in the over 
representation of the 35-44 and 45-54 age brackets.  
 

27



 

 

103. At Force level, confidence levels are at +/-3.7%, which gives assurance that in the 
results 56.1% of those who responded said that they would pay an increase of 2% on 
the current amount, significantly higher than both other options.  

 
104. Of those surveyed, 89.1% (758) pay council tax, and of those who pay council tax this 

increased to 56.5% saying that they support the 2% increase in the precept. 
 

 Survey  Online Combined 

 Number. % Number % Number % 

Freeze 209 30.4 34 20.9 243 28.5 

Increase by 1.5% 123 17.9 8 4.9 131 15.4 

Increase by 2% 356 51.7 121 74.2 477 56.1 

Refused 12    12  

 700 100 163 100 863 100 

 
105. In summary, out of 851 who stated a preference, 608 (71.5%) support an increase in 

the precept with 28.5% supporting a freeze grant.106. In respect of Council 
Boundaries (combined from LPU level data), due to lower levels of responses, 
confidence levels varied, but in all instances, the majority of respondents preferred an 
increase of 2%.  

 

  Preferred Option Total  

  Freeze +1.5% +2% Consultees C.I.% 

City Council 84  31.8% 52 19.7% 128 48.5% 264 6.0 

Charnwood 35 25.0% 21 15.0% 84 60.0% 140 8.3 

Melton 12 30.0% 2 5.0% 26 65.0% 40 15.4 

Rutland 7 22.6% 4 12.9% 20 64.5% 31 17.5 

NW Leics 22 29.3% 10 13.3% 43 57.4% 75 11.3 

Blaby 23 27.4% 15 17.9% 46 54.7% 84 10.6 

Harborough 22 27.8% 8 10.1% 49 62.1% 79 10.3 

Hinckley & Bosworth 21 25.9% 9 11.1% 51 63.0% 81 11.7 

Oadby & Wigston 12 26.7% 10 22.2% 23 51.1% 45 14.6 

No postcode/ refused       24  

Total 238  131  470  863 
+/-
3.7 

 
106. Residents were asked to provide comments under key categories, the main three 

responses were grouped as follows:  
 

1. “This is not a lot to pay for the services received” (168 respondents) 
2. “Policing needs to be maintained/improved by funding” (166 respondents) 
3. “I pay enough council tax already” (133 respondents) 

 
107. In summary, the survey shows that the majority of residents (56.1%) are in favour of 

increasing the precept by up to 2%. This reaffirms the precept strategy adopted on 
which the Police and Crime Plan and associated MTFS were based. 

 
 
 
 
 

28



 

 

Precept Options 
 
108. In order to calculate the precept increase required for 2015/16 to fund the budget 

requirement, after taking account of the Government formula grant and the use of 
reserves, it is necessary to have regard to two figures. Firstly, the value of the council 
tax base for the area and secondly, the Police and Crime Commissioner’s share of the 
estimated surpluses on the billing authorities’ collection funds for the preceding 
financial year (2014/15). 

 
109. At the time of writing this report, estimated council tax base information has been 

provided by all billing authorities, and final information is awaited to confirm estimates. 
 
110. The collection fund surplus reflects the performance of the billing authorities in 

collecting council tax in 2014/15 and the tax base reflects the number of households 
upon whom council tax can be levied, usually quoted in Band D equivalent numbers. 
Billing authorities are currently finalising their collection fund surplus elements and not 
all of these have been finalised or notified to the PCC at the time of writing this report. 
Therefore, the latest quarterly information supplied by the billing authorities has been 
used in this report and updated where notified. The Panel will be advised of any 
changes notified by billing authorities between the time of writing the report and the 
Panel meeting at the meeting. 

 
111. As mentioned above, the Government announced its commitment to freeze council 

tax at the 2014/15 level, at the same time offering a council tax freeze grant, 
equivalent to a 1% council tax increase, as compensation and paragraphs 30-37 
above details this and the PCCs position in respect of a referendum. 

 
112. In the light of this information three council tax options have been considered: 
  

1. Option 1 – no increase in Band D equivalent council tax combined with 
accepting the council tax freeze grant. This grant is estimated to be £0.582m for 
2015/16. 
 

2. Option 2 – a council tax Band D increase of 1.5% (£2.65 per annum or 5.1 
pence per week) in 2015/16, which would produce £0.783m in additional council 
tax receipts, the £0.582m council tax freeze grant would no longer be applicable 
and, therefore, this option would result in an additional £0.201m when compared 
to option 1. 

 
3. Option 3 – a council tax Band D increase of 1.99% (£3.51 per annum or 6.8 

pence per week) in 2015/16, which would produce £1.038m in additional council 
tax receipts, the £0.582m council tax freeze grant would no longer be applicable 
and, therefore, this option would result in an additional £0.456m when compared 
to option 1. 

 
113. When considering the level of Council Tax Band D increase to set, a number of 

factors must be taken into consideration. These include: 
 

• The capacity to address the priorities as set out in the Police and Crime Plan; 

• The potential efficiencies to be derived from the current change programme; 

• The hitherto good track record in driving costs down and efficiency up but 
acknowledging the limitations around this moving forward; 

• Future funding forecasts and the longer term MTFS; 

• The incentive, in the form of council tax freeze grant, from central government. 

29



 

 

114. Further factors which are worth noting in relation to Council Tax levels (Source: HMIC 
VFM indicators) for Leicestershire are as follows: 

 

• Regionally, Council Tax levels for Band D properties show that Leicestershire is 
placed mid way within the band in 2014/15 shown as follows: 
 

• £170.22 (Derbyshire)  

• £172.98 (Nottinghamshire) 

• £176.48 (Leicestershire) 

• £193.86 (Lincolnshire) 

• £197.04 (Northamptonshire).  
 

• At £176.48 in 2014/15, Leicestershire’s Council tax level for a Band D property 
is higher than both the national average at £171.8 and the MSG average of 
£154.7; however,  
 

• Leicestershire PCC receives a lower level of Precept per head of population at 
£49.50, compared to national levels of £54.80 but slightly higher than the most 
similar group of £49.20. 
 

• Additionally, Leicestershire raises significantly less through Council tax than 
others, with a Council tax yield (the amount per £1 of council tax collected that 
goes to the local policing body) of £0.28 per £1 of council tax raised compared 
to £0.32 both nationally and the most similar groups. 
 

• As highlighted earlier in the report, Leicestershire receive less central funding 
per head of population due to the damping formula. 

 
Precept proposal 
 
115. In determining the proposed precept level, the PCC has taken account of key relevant 

information and this has been the subject of much challenge, scrutiny and discussion, 
which is properly reflected within this report.  

 
116. After careful consideration of this information and taking into account the views 

received through consultation by local residents of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland the PCC is proposing a precept increase of 1.99% (option 3 as detailed in 
paragraph 112 above and attached at Appendix 1) for the 2015/16 financial year to 
build a sustainable base budget and to maintain and safeguard policing services 
where possible. 

 
117. This precept proposal is supported by a determination that specific areas will be 

prioritised by the force which will identify a minimum of £2.5m in revenue savings to 
be released in 2016/17 and future years and which will not only complement the 
existing work (and savings) of Edison and the Change Team, but will also enable a 
real cashable saving moving forwards. The force will report to the PCC at the 
Strategic Assurance Board by June 2015 and provide proposals on the following: 
 

• Further Force Structural reform 

• A review of productivity across the force 

• Proposals for savings in middle and back office 

• Further demand management benefits 

• Continued vigour with the volunteer strategy 

• Wider local public sector “join up”:  

30



 

 

 
118. Furthermore, in line with the PCC’s focus on making neighbourhoods safe and 

protecting the vulnerable in our communities, he is earmarking a maximum of £2m 
from the Budget Equalisation Reserve to support strategic priorities with partners on 
such issues as victims, safeguarding, CSE, mental health and any other emerging 
priorities from the joint review of partnerships and partnership working. It is intended 
that oversight of this approach will be the responsibility of the refreshed Strategic 
Partnership Board and its supporting structures and whilst the detail needs to be fully 
identified, this funding will only be released if there is a clear, costed business case 
that supports the achievement of improved outcomes. 

 
119.  This precept proposal will build on and complement the 2014/15 precept strategy 

which: 
 

• Increased the precept by 1.5% to help build the base following the unprecedented 
and unexpected additional top slicing of £1.6m applied to the Police settlement for 
2014/15; 
 

• Increased and maintained PCSO resources to 251 over three years. This increase 
took place to maintain operational resilience and minimise the impact of any 
Edison structural changes on neighbourhood policing. In addition, these resources 
were targeted to support the force in prioritising community and neighbourhood 
safety, particularly in regard to ASB hotspots: and 
 

• Secured a commitment from the force to deliver the Volunteer Strategy over 3 
years. 

 
Statement of the Chief Constable  
 
120. In proposing the precept and associated conditions, the PCC has sought views from 

the Chief Constable and his statement on the PCC’s precept proposal for 2015/16 is 
as follows: 

 
“It is my responsibility as described in the Policing Protocol Order 2011 to provide 
professional advice and recommendations to the PCC in relation to his receipt of all 
funding, including the Government Grant and precept and other sources of income 
related to policing and crime reduction.  Under the terms of the Order I am responsible 
for delivery of efficient and effective policing, the management of resources and 
expenditure by the Force.  I must also support the PCC in the delivery of the strategy 
and objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan, assist in the planning of the 
Force’s budgets, have regard to the strategic policing requirements in respect of 
national and international policing responsibilities, and have day to day responsibility 
for financial management of the Force within the framework of the agreed budget 
allocation and levels of authorisation issued by the PCC. 
Clearly this is a very challenging budget settlement, arguably the toughest in the 
Force’s history. That is exacerbated by the fact that Leicestershire does not receive 
full funding due to damping applied to the funding formula; that now costs us over 
£5.6 million.  The ability to raise further revenue through the precept is limited by the 
2% cap and compared to other Forces is further limited by the reality of revenue 
raising levels against Council Tax within the Force area. This means that we have the 
11th highest proportion of our revenue budget to save of all 43 Forces. Consequently 
my preferred option is an increase in the precept of 1.99% as this best enables the 
Force to deliver the Police and Crime Plan, and meet the requirements of the 
Strategic Policing Requirement going forwards. 

31



 

 

 HMIC has assessed us as ‘good’ across all areas in the first national PEEL 
assessment (Police Effectiveness, Efficiency, Legitimacy);  

 

• Effectiveness (preventing offending and reducing crime, investigating crime, 
tackling ASB),  
 

• Efficiency (efficiency, taking steps to ensure a secure financial position, providing 
affordable policing),  

 

• Legitimacy (acting with integrity and providing the service the public expects).  
 
They also assess us as demonstrating value for money, with the 4th lowest costs 
nationally on support functions offering the opportunity to deliver frontline services. 
HMIC’s assessment when austerity began was that policing could sustain a 12% cut 
without the frontline being impacted, our cut is 19%.  
 

 The Force Change Programme sets about meeting the challenges of maximising the 
impact of the money that we do have, which is still a considerable amount, on 
community safety within the terms laid out by the Police and Crime Plan.  In striving to 
provide the best service possible to local people and to keep them as safe as is 
possible we are doing focused work on demand management and looking at our 
productivity.   

 
The Force has identified a number of areas which it is progressing in order to close 
the funding gap: 
 
2015/16 
 
Regional Collaboration will deliver further savings anticipated at £0.5m of which 
£0.3m is expected from work within Criminal Justice. 
 
Output Based Budgeting will commence this financial year and is expected to 
realise between £1.9m and £2.7m in 2016/17. 
 
Local Projects are anticipated to realise further savings this financial year. Projects 
being scoped include workforce modernisation, vacancy management, reduction in 
training costs associated with specialist roles, reduction in overtime expenditure, 
embargo on non-critical estate improvements, and a recruitment restriction/freeze. 
 
2016/17 
 
Project Edison will be reviewed to see what element of the initial uplift in the 
number of police officers in the base model calculations can be removed. This may 
realise savings of up to £4.5m. 
 
Further Collaborative working may realise savings. This could include more 
integration of contact management functions and potential shared services around 
Chief Officer functions and corporate services. The region will also utilise Output 
Based Budgeting.  
 
Local Projects are anticipated to realise £0.5m to £1.5m and will review fleet, 
estates, management structures, partnership working and IT. 
The opportunities for further savings identified above will be developed by the Force 
Change Team once Project Edison is implemented. We shall also seek to identify a 

32



 

 

minimum of £2.5million in revenue savings, complementary to the existing work of 
Edison, as requested by the Police and Crime Commissioner. To do so we will look at; 
 
1. Force structure including rank structures, supervisory levels and ratios and 

working hours. 
 
2. Productivity, which will be inspected by the HMIC during the year ahead. This will 

include capacity, attendance management, workforce mix, underperformance 
and utilising technology. 

 
3. The opportunity for savings to middle and back office: this will include looking at 

options with partners. 
 
4. Demand Management; we will seek, with partners, to make Predictive Demand 

Management the norm.  
 

5. Continued vigour with our Volunteers Strategy: seeking innovative engagement. 
 

6. Wider local public sector “join up”: where we can realistically “join up” in support of 
the same agendas to deliver a better service and at the same time release much-
needed savings in the process. 

 
7. We will also seek to identify effective opportunities to work with partners, possibly 

pooling some budgets, to maximise the impact of the £2 million from reserves 
earmarked by the PCC for work on issues such as victims, safeguarding, CSE, 
cyber- crime, mental health and other emerging priorities identified within the 
Strategic Assessment, and the partnership review. 

 
 We live in an age where the desire for a visible policing presence remains key to 

ensuring community confidence, yet whilst officers visibly patrol the streets the 
greatest threat may be coming into your house through the internet. To meet this 
challenge we will be innovative, seeking to protect the vulnerable whilst targeting 
offenders.   

 
The Panel’s support through Community Safety Partnerships, joined up demand 
management, and shared risk appetites will be crucial in ensuring our continued 
success.”   

 
 
Robustness of the Budget –statement of the PCC Chief Finance Officer 
 
121. The Local Government Act 2003, Part 2, Section 25, as amended by the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, requires the PCC’s Chief Finance Officer 
to report on the robustness of the estimates used for the budget and the adequacy of 
the proposed financial reserves.  The PCC is required to have regard to the report of 
the Chief Finance Officer and the report must be given to the Police and Crime Panel. 
For the Strategic Assurance Board, this statement was been prepared by the PCC 
and Force Finance Officers to provide assurance to the Board that these factors have 
been jointly considered. 

 
122. In the sections above, titled “2015/16 – Base Budget – preparation, approach and 

scrutiny” and “2015/16 Base Revenue Budget”, a description of the development of 
this budget is given.  During the preparation of the budget I have been given full 
access to the budget model and have been consulted on the assumptions being 
made in order to develop the model and received timely and detailed responses to 

33



 

 

queries and/or points of clarification.  In the majority of cases I have agreed with the 
assumptions being made, and where I have sought changes then they have been 
incorporated. 

 
123. I have reviewed the track record of Leicestershire Police in achieving efficiency 

savings; this is impressive and I am therefore assured that the efficiencies required, 
supplemented by the use of the Budget Equalisation Reserve (in respect of timing 
differences for realisation of savings) to ensure a balanced budget for 2015/16 can be 
achieved. 

 
124. I am assured that there is work underway to identify the remaining savings for 

2016/17 supplemented by the use of the Budget Equalisation Reserve in respect of 
timing differences for realisation of savings to ensure a balanced budget for 2016/17 
can be achieved. 

 
125. I have confidence that the budget monitoring process will identify any variations of 

expenditure or income from that budgeted so that early action can be taken and this is 
regularly reviewed, discussed and scrutinised at the Strategic Assurance Board. 

 
126. I have also reviewed the detailed calculations in arriving at the budget requirement 

and council tax precept and options and find these to be robust. I am assured that 
inflation and other key assumptions have been benchmarked with peers. 

 
127. The Chief Constable has been involved in the development of the refreshed Police 

and Crime Plan and has been able to develop a budget that supports the delivery of 
the priorities set out in that Plan. 

 
128. There is an operational contingency available to the Chief Constable, and sufficient 

general reserves available should demands require access to these.  Earmarked 
reserves are also in place for specific requirements such as pensions and insurance. 

 
129. In coming to my conclusion on the robustness of the budget I have also reviewed the 

separate papers on Capital Expenditure (Appendix 3) and Treasury Management 
(Appendix 4).  

 
130. The section above on the MTFS does, however, set out a significant challenge to the 

organisation.  In June 2013, the PCC approved a change plan which included 
transactional reductions in earlier years, and these have been implemented.  Some 
Transformational changes have been identified in terms of a new operating model for 
the Force and these are being implemented in February 2015. These have been 
incorporated into the Revenue Budget Requirement.  

 
131. A level of savings identified from the original Police and Crime Plan priority remain to 

be identified and as highlighted above, work is already underway in the Force to 
identify and realise these and I am assured that regular updates will continue to be 
given to the PCC. 

 
132. I conclude that the budget for 2015/16 has been prepared on a robust basis and that 

although shortfalls have been identified for 2015/16 and 2016/17 they are 
manageable and plans are being progressed to address these.  

 
133. Beyond 2015/16, there is a high level of uncertainty as to how the finance settlement 

might look and from 2017/18 onwards, the financial position begins to deteriorate 
further and following the headlines identified in the Chancellor’s Autumn statement, in 
line with many other public sector organisations, it is reasonable to assume that the 

34



 

 

financial challenges will continue and these are reflected as best estimates in the 
MTFS to 2019/20. 

 
134. I conclude, therefore, that the budget for 2015/16: 
 

1. has been prepared on a robust basis, and  
 
2. that the level of reserves are adequate and sufficient to ensure that timing 

differences to realise savings can be accommodated.   
 
3. In the short term (2015/16 and 2016/17), the budget is stable and reserves are 

sufficient, however,  
 
4. the financial landscape after that time is uncertain and significant financial 

challenges have been identified within the MTFS which need to be considered and 
plans identified. 

 
Implications 
 
Financial –  This report for the Police and Crime Panel to note the precept 

proposal, the financial position, uncertainties and timescales. 
Legal -  There are no legal implications identified. 

 
Equality - Impact 
Assessment 

There are no equality issues identified. 

Risks and -Impact Risks have been identified within the report. 
Link to Police and 
Crime Plan 

The report provides an update on  the strategic priority 18  

 

 

 
List of Appendices 
Appendix 1 Budget and Precept 2015/16 to 2019/20 
Appendix 2 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner – Budgeted Establishment 2015/16 
Appendix 3 Capital Programme 2015/16 to 2017/18 
Appendix 4 Treasury Management – Investment Strategy 
 
Background Papers 
Provisional Police Grant Report – 18 December 2014 
Council Tax Freeze Grant and Council Tax Referendum Principles  
2015/16 Leicestershire Police and Crime Commissioner Precept Survey  
 
Persons to Contact 
Mrs H King, Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Tel 0116 229 8984,  Email:  helen.king@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 
 
Mr P Dawkins, Finance Director, Office of the Chief Constable 
Tel 0116 222 2244, Email: paul.dawkins@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 

35



36

This page is intentionally left blank



The Office of the PCC for Leicestershire APPENDIX 1 - (OPTION 3)

Budget and Precept 2015/16 to 2019/20

1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Approved Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

£ Budget Heading £ £ £ £ £

93,795,218 Police Pay & Allowances 89,260,707 87,602,076 86,416,858 86,318,206 86,238,319

3,430,750 Police Pensions 4,134,719 4,161,649 4,197,252 4,235,545 4,274,298

8,146,078 Central & Financing Items 8,077,427 9,065,131 9,448,588 9,707,030 9,922,633

49,290,682 Delegated Budgets 50,220,007 52,567,856 54,395,462 56,182,899 57,999,116

7,171,713 Police Community Support Officers 7,371,143 7,754,192 7,896,914 7,720,730 7,425,735

7,100,045 Regional Collaboration 8,163,816 8,198,454 8,298,019 8,385,931 8,474,937

1,031,200 Office of the PCC 1,104,195 1,135,159 1,171,381 1,208,710 1,247,179

3,502,029 Community Safety Fund Expenditure 4,343,000 4,243,000 4,243,000 4,139,000 3,992,000

173,467,715 Subtotal 172,675,014 174,727,517 176,067,474 177,898,051 179,574,217

- Less: Specific Grants (1,102,000) (1,102,000) (1,102,000) (1,102,000) (1,102,000)

(453,851) Less: Efficiency Savings

173,013,863 Subtotal 171,573,014 173,625,517 174,965,474 176,796,051 178,472,217

(407,081) Transfer to/(from) Specific Earmarked Reserves (973,865) (758,273) (513,293) (57,938) 278,903

- Transfer to/(from) Budget Equalisation Reserve (321,614) (321,614) (44,000) - -

- Funding Gap (1,575,442) (6,140,871) (9,683,602) (13,537,491) (16,920,158)

172,606,782 Total Budget Requirement 168,702,093 166,404,759 164,724,579 163,200,622 161,830,962

£ Funding £ £ £ £ £

70,004,790 Police Grant 65,720,384 63,556,195 61,461,260 59,433,362 57,470,358

548,000 Victims Services/RJ Funding - - - -

41,277,877 Business Rates 39,876,209 38,600,170 37,364,965 36,169,286 35,011,869

7,020,391 Council Tax Support Grant 7,020,391 7,020,391 7,020,391 7,020,391 7,020,391

1,910,530 Council Tax Freeze Grant 1,910,530 1,910,530 1,910,530 1,910,530 1,910,530

761,733 Collection Fund Surplus 958,844 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

51,083,461 Precept 53,215,735 54,817,473 56,467,434 58,167,053 59,917,815

172,606,782 Total Funding 168,702,093 166,404,759 164,724,579 163,200,622 161,830,962

£ Precept by Billing Authority £ £ £ £

5,312,923 Blaby 30,961.93 5,572,996 5,740,737 5,913,529 6,091,521 6,274,869

9,027,199 Charnwood 52,291.30 9,412,178 9,695,474 9,987,299 10,287,907 10,597,561

5,568,342 Harborough 32,163.00 5,789,182 5,963,431 6,142,926 6,327,821 6,518,281

6,127,829 Hinckley & Bosworth 35,599.60 6,407,754 6,600,621 6,799,295 7,003,947 7,214,758

11,361,100 Leicester City 65,903.00 11,862,217 12,219,258 12,587,046 12,965,906 13,356,165

3,125,074 Melton 17,909.30 3,223,586 3,320,612 3,420,559 3,523,514 3,629,568

5,131,070 North West Leicestershire 29,664.00 5,339,375 5,500,084 5,665,633 5,836,163 6,011,825

2,905,222 Oadby & Wigston 16,698.90 3,005,720 3,096,189 3,189,382 3,285,381 3,384,267

2,524,702 Rutland 14,459.99 2,602,727 2,681,067 2,761,765 2,844,893 2,930,521

51,083,461 Total 295,651.02 53,215,735 54,817,473 56,467,434 58,167,053 59,917,815

289,452.42 Tax Base 295,651.02 298,607.53 301,593.62 304,609.55 307,655.65

£ Precept by Band Apportionment £ £ £ £ £

117.6554 Band A 6/9 119.9967 122.3847 124.8201 127.3041 129.8374

137.2646 Band B 7/9 139.9962 142.7821 145.6235 148.5214 151.4770

156.8739 Band C 8/9 159.9956 163.1796 166.4268 169.7387 173.1165

176.4831 Band D 9/9 179.9951 183.5770 187.2302 190.9561 194.7561

215.7016 Band E 11/9 219.9940 224.3719 228.8369 233.3908 238.0352

254.9200 Band F 13/9 259.9929 265.1668 270.4436 275.8255 281.3144

294.1385 Band G 15/9 299.9918 305.9617 312.0503 318.2601 324.5935

352.9662 Band H 18/9 359.9902 367.1540 374.4604 381.9122 389.5122

£176.4831 Band D Council Tax £179.9951 £183.5770 £187.2302 £190.9561 £194.7561

1.50% % Increase 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%

£2.61 £ Increase £3.51 £3.58 £3.65 £3.73 £3.80

5.0p Increase per week in Pence 6.8p 6.9p 7.0p 7.2p 7.3p

£ £ £ £ £

Use of Equalisation Reserve

11,813,480 Opening Balance 10,150,165 9,828,551 9,506,937 9,462,937 9,462,937

- Council Tax Freeze Grant - - - - -

- Transfer To Reserve - Other - - - - -

(1,663,314) Transfer To/(From) Reserve (321,614) (321,614) (44,000) - -

10,150,165 Closing Balance 9,828,551 9,506,937 9,462,937 9,462,937 9,462,937

Note: The Victims and Witnesses Grant (£1.078m) is now shown as Specific Grants and was previously shown in the funding section.

Precept Increase

37



38

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

Chief Finance 

Officer  

(SPOT SALARY) 

Head of Partnerships 

& Commissioning 

(PO52) 

Head of Policy & 

Strategy (PO47) 

VACANT 

Resources  
Manager & 

Deputy S151 

Officer (PO46) 

VACANT 

Chief Executive 

(SPOT SALARY) 

PA to PCC and 

CEO (Sc5) 

Commissioning 

Manager (PO43) 

VACANT* 

 

Commissioning 

& Contracts 

Support Officer 

(SO1) 

VACANT* 

Planning & 

Performance  

Co-ordinator 

(PO37) 

VACANT 

Policy and 

Research Officer 

(SO2) 

Head of 

Governance & 

Assurance 

(PO47) 

Governance 

Officer (Sc6) 

Mental Health 

Partnership 

Development 

Manager (PO37) 

£28K  

[Deputy Chief 

Constable] 
 

Director of 

Strategic 

Communications 

& Engagement  

 

Communication 

& Engagement 

Directorate 

£34K PA 
 

Police & Crime 

Commissioner 

Sir Clive Loader  Shared Resources 

Office of the Police & Crime 

Commissioner – Budgeted 

Establishment  2015/16 

Partnerships  

Co-ordinator 

(PO40) 

VACANT 

 

Assurance 

Officer (Sc6) 

VACANT 

 

Policing  

Co-ordinator 

 

Executive 

Support 

£30K PA 
 

Key: 

Grey Box   denotes 

force post and/or 

shared resources 

Appendix 2 

*Victims and Witness grant funding contribution of £64k 

39



40

T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2015-16 TO 2017-18 
 

Background 
 
1. The Government support for capital spending includes the capital grant which 

directly supports the capital programme.  Since 2004 the Prudential Code has 
given the police authority and now the PCC the freedom to set its own 
borrowing limit subject to compliance with the Code. 

Prudential Code 

 
2. The key objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear 

framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable.  A further key objective is to ensure that 
treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. 

 
3. The Prudential Indicators required by the Code are designed to support and 

record local decision making.  They are not designed to be comparative 
performance indicators. 

 
4. The main objective in consideration of the affordability of the capital 

programme is to ensure that total capital investment remains within 
sustainable limits, and in particular to consider its impact on the council tax. 

 
5. In assessing affordability the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

(OPCC) has to take into account all the resources currently available to the 
organisation and estimated for the future, together with the totality of its 
capital plans, revenue income and revenue expenditure forecasts for the 
coming year and the following 2 years. 

 
6. In relation to being prudent there is a need to ensure that, over the medium 

term, net borrowing will only be used for capital purposes.  It is also prudent 
to ensure that treasury management is carried out in compliance with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services and 
limits are set on fixed and variable interest rate exposures, and on the 
maturity structure of borrowing. 

 
7. The decisions on capital investment need to take into account option 

appraisal, asset management planning, strategic planning for both the OPCC 
and Force and the achievability of the forward plan. 

Prudential Indicators 

 
8. The actual 2013/14 capital expenditure and the estimated capital expenditure 

for the current year and future years are:- 
 

 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

      

Total 9.0 7.9 8.9 5.4 3.9 

 

Appendix 3 

41



9. The estimates of the ratio of financing costs to the net revenue stream for 
2013/14 and for the current and future years are:- 

 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

% % % % % 

1.08 1.11 1.28 1.77 1.96 

 
10. The actual capital financing requirement at 31 March 2013 and the estimates 

for the current and future years are:- 
 

 31.3.14 31.3.15 31.3.16 31.3.17 31.3.18 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

      

Total 20.4 24.1 28.4 29.4 28.7 

 
11. The capital financing requirement (CFR) measures the OPCC’s need to 

borrow for capital purposes.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net 
borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the OPCC has to ensure that net 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
CFR in the preceding year plus estimates of any additional CFR for the 
current and next two years.  The OPCC met this requirement in 2013/14, and 
is expected to do so in future years. 

 
12. In respect of external debt, the recommended authorised limits for total 

external debt, gross of investments, for the next three financial years are 
shown below:- 

 

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 £m £m £m £m 

Borrowing 18.4 19.2 22.4 24.0 

Long Term Liabilities 2.7 2.3 1.9 1.4 

Total 21.1 21.5 24.3 25.4 

 
13. These authorised limits are consistent with the OPCC’s current commitments, 

existing plans, and proposals in this report for capital expenditure and its 
financing, and the approved treasury management policy.  The authorised 
limit for 2015/16 is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the 
Local Government Act 2003. 

 
14. There is a need to have an approved operational boundary for external debt 

which is based on the same estimates as the authorised limit (para 12).  The 
operational boundary reflects an estimate of the most likely level of debt.  It 
does not include the additional headroom within the authorised limit that 
allows for unusual cash movements. 

 

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 £m £m £m £m 

Borrowing 17.4 18.2 21.4 23.0 

Long Term Liabilities 2.2 1.8 1.4 0.9 

Total 19.6 20.0 22.8 23.9 

 

42



15. The OPCC’s actual external debt at 31 March 2014 was £14.6m.  The 
amount is split between the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) figure of 
£12.4m and Leicestershire County Council £2.2m (transferred debt from 1995 
regarding the formation of police authorities as per the Police and Magistrates 
Courts Act 1994. This has now transferred to the OPCC). 

 
 It is planned that the 2014/15 ‘borrowing requirement’ of £5.0m will be met by 

internal cash balances.   
 
16. A monitoring system is in place and reports on progress against the indicators 

are taken to the OPCC. 
 
17. On their commencement to the role, the Resources Manager in the OPCC will 

attend the Strategic Finance and Infrastructure Board where the Capital 
programme is discussed in more detail and provide challenge, scrutiny and 
receive assurance for the CFO and PCC. 

Proposed Capital Programme 

 
18. The capital programme has been prepared in consultation with budget 

holders on the basis of operational need and risk.  The Force Executive 
Group, as part of its remit, has challenged and prioritised the proposed 
medium term capital programme.   

 
19. A summary of the proposed Capital Programme for 2015/16 is shown in the 

table below.  The more detailed programme relating to the financial years 
2014/15 to 2017/18 was considered in full by the PCC and his team during 
the preparation and at the Strategic Assurance Board on the 14th January 
2015.   

 

Proposed Capital Programme 2015/16 

Expenditure 

Property 
Information Technology 
Emergency Services Network 
Vehicle Fleet 
 

 

£000 
2,535 
4,796 

75 
1,500 

Funding 

Capital Grant (TBC) 
Borrowing Requirement 
Capital Receipts 
Home Office Grants (TBC) 
Revenue Contributions 

 
£000 
1,600 
5,826 
1,305 

75 
100 

Total 8,906 Total 8,906 

    

 
 
20. The Programme includes property schemes relating to the replacement of the 

Oakham and Coalville police stations for smaller efficient premises, the 
commencement of major refurbishments at Beaumont leys and the 
remodelling of the Force HQ residential block to create additional office 
space. The information technology expenditure includes significant 
investment in the Data Infrastructure and mobile devices to support the new 
policing model and regional collaborative projects. Planned replacements for 
the existing vehicle fleet are also included. 

43



Funding Arrangements 

 
21. The 2015/16 capital grant has not yet been confirmed by the Home Office. 

This will be announced with the Final Settlement in February 2015. A 
provisional capital grant of £1.6m has been included based on 2014/15 but 
this may be top sliced to fund national programmes.  After the utilisation of 
receipts arising from the sale of properties as part of the strategic estates 
review and the application of revenue contributions to capital schemes, the 
borrowing requirement is £5.826m for 2015/16. 

 
22. The Capital Programme assumes that the 15/16 borrowing requirement of 

£5.826m is financed through maturity loans from the PWLB at an indicative 
interest rate of 3.6% for 25 years and 2.44% for 6 year loans. 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
Home Office Settlement Notification via the Home Office website 

44



 

 
 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT – INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

Background 

 
1. The ‘Code of Treasury Management’ published by the Chartered Institute of 

Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), and recommended by the Home 
Office, has been adopted by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Leicestershire (“the OPCC”).   

 
2. The Treasury Management Strategy is approved annually to run from 1st April 

to the following 31st March. 
 
3. The Strategy has evolved in recent years in response to the relative instability 

within the banking sector.  This saw the removal of all European/foreign 
banks and all but one Building Society (Nationwide) from the authorised 
lending list.   

 
4. The Local Government Act 2003 included capital regulations that applied from 

1st April 2004.  These regulations allow the OPCC freedom to borrow to fund 
capital expenditure provided it has plans that are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable.  The requirements are covered in the Prudential Code. 

 
Treasury Management Strategy 
 
5. The core aim is to generate additional income for the OPCC but by balancing 

risk against return.  The avoidance of risk to the principal cash amounts takes 
precedence over maximising returns. 

 
i. Managing daily cash balances and investing surpluses 

 
In order that the OPCC can maximise income earned from investments, 
the target for the uninvested overnight balance in the current account is a 
maximum of £15k.   
 
At any one time, the OPCC has in excess of £30m available to invest.  
The current lending list is as follows:- 

 

Institution Maximum Loan 
£m 

 

Maximum Period of 
Loan 

Short-Term Credit 
Ratings ** 

Royal Bank of Scotland plc 10.0 364 days F1 / A-2 / P-2 

Lloyds TSB Bank plc 10.0 364 days F1 / A-1 / P-1 

Barclays Bank plc 10.0 364 days F1 / A-1 / P-1 

HSBC Bank plc 10.0 364 days F1+ / A-1+ / P-1 

Nationwide Building Society 10.0 364 days F1 / A-1 / P-1 

Debt Management Office * 364 days n/a 

 
* No limit is set. The DMO tends to pay a low rate of return and hence are 
used only when funds can not be placed with other approved institutions. 
** Short-term credit ratings (valid as at 23/12/2014) are as supplied by the 
OPCC’s brokers - Tullet Prebon (Europe) Ltd.  The highest potential 

Appendix 4 

45



 

ratings are F1+ (Fitch), A-1+ (Standard & Poor’s) and P-1 (Moody’s) 
respectively. 

 
ii. Borrowing 

 
Funds are only borrowed to finance part of the Capital programme.  
External borrowing is from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at below 
commercial rates.  The critical factor in determining the length of such 
loans is the view on the future movement of interest rates and the life of 
the asset being financed. 
 
Borrowing may be made from internal cash resources where it is 
considered appropriate by the OPCC having assessed its merits against 
the external alternative. 
 
Any borrowing, whether internal or external, will be timed such that the 
impact on the OPCC is as advantageous as possible. 
 

Latest Position regarding Treasury Management 

6. The banking sector continues to show signs of instability alongside the wider 
economy.  In this context it is not yet advisable to consider a return to placing 
investments with the majority of Building Societies or European/Foreign 
banks.  This is in keeping with the OPCC’s stated aim of protecting the 
principal (cash) amount. 

 
7. Funds are placed with institutions based on (a) available headroom and (b) 

rate of return – this is a daily decision-making process.  A balance is struck 
between the desired level of return and the need to provide liquid funds to 
meet the OPCC’s obligations i.e. supplier payments, payroll costs and tax 
liabilities. 

 
8. Continued monitoring of the ratings agencies’ assessment of institutions takes 

place and is reported to the PCC Strategic Assurance Board via a quarterly 
“Treasury Management Performance” report.   

 
9. The Bank of England Base Rate has been at 0.50% since 5th March 2009.  

Returns have therefore been lower in recent years as can be seen below: 
 

Financial 
Year 

Interest Income Comments 
 
 

2008/09 £1.48m Actual 

2009/10 £0.18m Actual 

2010/11 £0.12m Actual 

2011/12 £0.10m Actual 

2012/13 £0.25m Actual 

2013/14 £0.14m Actual 

2014/15 £0.12m Forecast 

2015/16 £0.12m Proposed Budget 

 

46



 

 

External Advice 

 
10. External advisers have not been used over the last year.  However they may 

be used on an ad-hoc basis if required. 
 
Borrowing Limits 
 
11.  In accordance with the Prudential Code it is a requirement that the OPCC set 

borrowing limits for the next 3 years. These limits are intended to reduce risk.  
It is proposed that the limits should be as follows: 

 

  2014/15 
£m 

2015/16 
£m 

2016/17 
£m 

2017/18 
£m 

(i) Total authorised borrowing 
limit* 

18.4 19.2 22.4 24.0 

(ii) Long term liabilities 2.7 2.3 1.9 1.4 

(iii) Interest payable limit on 
borrowing at variable rates 

0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 

(iv) Interest payable limit on 
borrowing at fixed rates 

0.6 0.6 0.7 0.8 

* includes headroom for short term borrowing - £1m for each year. 
 

12. The OPCC has an obligation to repay transferred debt to Leicestershire 
County Council, to finance capital spending prior to 1st April 1995.  The 
amount outstanding at 31st December 2014 was £1.795m and is subject to 
interest charged at variable “pool” rates. 

 
13.  The Prudential Code also recommends that the Police and Crime 

Commissioner sets upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its fixed 
rate borrowing.  The following limits are proposed:- 

 

 Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

Under 12 months 20% 0% 

Between 12 months and 24 months 20% 0% 

Between 24 months and 5 years 20% 0% 

Between 5 years and 10 years 50% 0% 

Over 10 years 100% 25% 

 
14. The Treasury Management Strategy was reviewed, scrutinised, challenged  

and considered as part of the budget and precept discussion on the 14th 
January 2015. In addition to ongoing discussions on a daily and weekly basis 
between the CFO and FD, a Treasury management update is reviewed 
formally on a quarterly basis at the Strategic Assurance Board where the 
information is challenged and scrutinised.  

47



48

This page is intentionally left blank



 

POLICE & CRIME 

COMMISSIONER FOR 

LEICESTERSHIRE 

POLICE & CRIME PANEL 
 
 
 
Report of POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 
Date 29 JANUARY 2015 

 
Subject 
 

PCC GRANT ALLOCATIONS 2015/16 

Author HEAD OF PARTNERSHIPS AND COMMISSIONING 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Police and Crime Panel on the PCC 

Grants allocated for 2015/16. 
 
Recommendation 

 
2. The Panel is recommended to note the contents of the report. 
 
Background 
 
3. The new Commissioning Framework for 2015/17 was presented to the Panel on 

29th September 2014 and included details of the PCC Grant. 
 
4. The PCC Grant was open to voluntary, community and social enterprise 

(VCSE) organisations. £250,000 was available for the 2015/16 financial year 
and an indicative £250,000 for 2016/17. The maximum amount of funding that 
could be awarded per application was: 

• £25,000 in any given year; or  

• match funding up to a maximum of £50,000 per annum 
 

5. The PCC Grant was available for the following commissioning intentions: 
 
CI010: Interventions that pro-actively reduce anti-social behaviour in: 
 

• New Parks 

• Braunstone Park and Rowley Fields 

• Abbey  

• Beaumont Leys 

• Spinney Hills 

• Charnwood East  

• Loughborough Central  

• Loughborough East  

PAPER MARKED 

 

Agenda Item 649



These locations were identified as ASB hotspots from the Police Strategic 
Assessments for 2012/13 and 2014. This enabled those areas with longer term 
anti-social behaviour issues to be prioritised. 
 
And 
 
CI011: Interventions which increase the reporting of: 

• Domestic abuse 

• Serious sexual assault 

• Hate crime 
 

Process 

6. 56 applications were received amounting to £1.138m for 2015/16. These were long-
listed by the OPCC, prior to being scored and shortlisted by specialists in the relevant 
themed areas. Applications in relation to CI010 scored significantly higher than those 
for CI011. 7 applications for CI010 scored 80% and above and were considered by a 
multi-agency Grant Review Panel. The threshold for applications in relation to CI011 
was lowered to 65% and 9 applications were considered by the Panel.  
 

7. The Panel made recommendations to the PCC in terms of which applications 
should be funded for both CI010 and CI011. It was felt that many of the 
applications in relation to CI011 were primarily focussed on cope and recover 
provision, and that increased reporting would be a secondary rather than primary 
outcome. Concern was also expressed that many of the applications could 
potentially duplicate the co-commissioning of cope and recover services which is 
currently underway. The Panel therefore recommended that some of the PCC 
Grant should be re-allocated to the Victim First commissioning budget.  

 
8. The recommendations were discussed with the PCC on 15th December 2014 and the 

decisions made are outlined in Appendix A. Applicants were able to bid for funding for 
both 2015/16 and 2016/17. However, all of the successful applications received were 
for new initiatives with no previous performance information. It was therefore agreed 
that funding for 2015/16 only would be agreed. Decisions on funding for 2016/17 will 
be made by the end of December 2015 and be dependent on the achievement of 
agreed outcomes by the end of quarter 2 in 2015/16. 
 

9. It was also agreed that £100,000 should be re-allocated to Victim First with the 
specific use of this additional funding to be determined by the Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Services Steering Group. All applicants have been informed of the 
decisions and feedback offered where requested. Contracts are being drafted and will 
include a requirement for quarterly performance monitoring returns.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

50



Implications 
 
Financial: The total PCC Grant budget for 2015/16 is 

£250,000 with a further indicative £250,000 for 
2016/17.  

Legal:  All PCC Grants recipients will be required to sign a 
legal agreement outlining the conditions of the 
funding. 

Equality/Diversity Issues:  The actions within the Equality Impact Assessment 
for the Commissioning Framework have been 
completed and/or implemented. All PCC Grant 
recipients have provided copies of their Equality 
Policy and/or outlined how they will ensure 
compliance with the Equality Act 2010. 

Risks and Impact: All PCC Grant recipients have provided a risk 
register in relation to their initiative. 

Link to Police and Crime Plan: The Commissioning Framework sets out how the 
PCC intends to align the commissioning budget with 
the key themes and strategic priorities in the Police 
and Crime Plan. 

 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Person to Contact 
 
Sue Haslett, Head of Partnerships and Commissioning 
Email:  sue.haslett@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk Tel: 0116 229 8705   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51



52

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

PCC GRANTS 2015/16 

Organisation Initiative Description Location 2015/16 Requested 
2016/17 

Pedestrian Limited 
 

Changing 
Tracks 

An early intervention initiative which targets those displaying 
behaviours that mean they are 'high risk, for ASB and alters 
these negative behaviours through a range of activities. 
Bespoke and practitioner led sessional delivery will take 
place in 3 primary schools both during and outside timetable 
hours, engaging families and children in Years 3-6 (7-11 
years). 

Braunstone Park and Rowley 
Fields, Abbey (Mowmacre, 
Stocking Farm, Abbey Rise, Frog 
Island and Blackfriars)  
Beaumont Leys 

£19,032 £17,612 

Go-Getta CIC 
 

Make Moves Providing ongoing youth work (8-12 yrs) to raise awareness 
of the impact of ASB, provide access to positive psychology 
coaching and to deliver coaching skills for parents. Delivery 
of an after school club based at Robert Bakewell school, a 
youth club based at All Saints Church and street based 
detached youth work/outreach.  

Loughborough East (areas of 
Meadow Lane, Sparrow Hill, Pinfold 
Gate, Leicester Rd, Lewis Rd and 
parts of both Derby Rd and Alan 
Moss Rd) 

£23,794 £21,585 

The Contact 
Project  
 

Forward 
Together  

Provision of a young persons (13+ yrs) outreach service on 
Saturday nights (9-11pm). Face-to-face sessions at St 
Matthews Centre with informal activities. Discussions around 
the interventions and support offered to encourage young 
people to divert themselves from potential ASB. 

Spinney Hills £24,431   

Pedestrian Limited 
 

Pay It Forward Changemakers - recruiting 20 young people in CJS for 
leadership training to act as role models with peers. 
Community platforms - campaign to explore impact of ASB. 
Outreach delivery - Changemakers will assist lead workers in 
outreach. 

Loughborough East (areas of 
Meadow Lane, Sparrow Hill, Pinfold 
Gate, Leicester Rd, Lewis Rd and 
parts of both Derby Rd and Alan 
Moss Rd) 

£21,149 £15,835 

Go-Getta CIC 
 

Make Moves Focus on 10-19 year olds - set up a youth café to provide a 
hub for delivering activities. Street based detached youth 
work to raise awareness of the impact of ASB, provide 
access to positive psychology coaching and to deliver 
coaching skills for parents. 

Charnwood East (Syston, 
Thurmaston, East Goscote & 
Queniborough),  

£36,944 £34,735 

Community 
Projects Plus 

Street Sport A continuation of a programme to deliver weekly targeted 
Sport Sessions to divert young people from ASB. 5 sessions 
per week. 

New Parks, Braunstone Park and 
Rowley Fields Abbey (Mowmacre, 
Stocking Farm, Abbey Rise, Frog 
Island & Blackfriars) Spinney Hills 

£23,800 £23,800 

Royal Mencap 
Society (Mencap) 
 

Speak Up! 
Report Hate 
Crime. 
 

An initiative to raise awareness and encourage reporting of 
hate crime, including 'Mate Crime'  against those with 
learning difficulties aged 16 +. 10 workshops across the City 
for those aged 16+ with learning difficulties. 

Leicester City £3095.60  

 

53



54

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

POLICE & CRIME 

COMMISSIONER FOR 

LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  
 
 
Report of POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER (PCC)  

 
Subject Force Change Programme Update 

 

Thursday 29 January 2015 
Date  
Author :  
 

CHIEF CONSTABLE 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. This purpose of this report is to provide the Police and Crime Panel (the Panel) with 

an explanation of the consultation and risk assessment methodology that 
Leicestershire Police has applied throughout the Force Change Programme, 
specifically in respect of the transformation of local policing. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Panel is recommended to note the contents of this report.  
 
Summary 
 
3. Leicestershire Police embarked upon a programme of change in order to achieve 

efficiencies necessitated by a projected funding gap of £15.4 million by March 2017.  
As around 85% of all force expenditure is invested in people, a key focus of the 
programme has been upon the continued delivery of high quality policing services 
with a reduced workforce and the matching of resources to demand. 

 
4. In order to achieve the savings required, it has been necessary to transform the 

model of policing for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The Force Change 
Programme has been underpinned by detailed research to maximise efficiency, 
which has been presented to the Panel previously. 

 
5. Methodology - Each beat within the force area has been risk assessed against four 

criteria, namely: 
 

• The number and level of ASB incidents reported 

• Community data,  including demographic information such as population, 
amenities and places of worship 

• Problem-solving requirements – offender management needs based upon 
the offenders known to live in the area and the number and type of 

PAPER MARKED 

 

Agenda Item 755



 
 

educational establishments within the area (divided into several categories 
including special and religious schools) 
 

• Vulnerability data – the number of reports of vulnerable people who require 
police management, support or intervention.  

 
6. All Local Policing Units were divided into postcode areas and mapped according to 

Census data relating to employment or education. Researchers also utilised partner 
databases and police systems to obtain accurate statistics and representation of 
each area.  

 
7. Using information from the period 2011-12 and 2012-13, a percentage of demand 

was calculated for each beat in the current structure. This demand was then mapped 
against the proposed new beat areas. In calculating the forecast for demand, 
analysts also considered population data for 2001, 2011 and predicted for 2021. 

 
8. The new force structure is based upon a detailed analysis of that data. Throughout 

this process, the preservation of Neighbourhood Policing and the principle of a 
uniformed officer on his or her beat – the foundation stone of the British Policing 
Model – has been an over-riding consideration. 

 
9. On February 9th, 2015, the existing two Basic Command Units (BCUs) for the City 

and Counties will become a single BCU. This will bring Response Policing – the 
deployment of officers to emergency or urgent incidents requiring police attendance – 
under a single command. 

 
10. It is a “borderless” model which will enable commanders to draw down resources 

from across the entire force area and deploy them more effectively to where they are 
needed. This will be known as the Patrol and Resolution Team (PRT). 

 
11. The PRT will start and finish duties at “hubs” across the force area. These 

geographic areas will not, however, be the automatic focus of their patrols. Instead, 
they will be flexible to patrol areas based upon predictive policing methodology and 
intelligence, utilising mobile data technology to maximise the amount of time they can 
spend on patrol rather than returning to a police station for administrative duties. 

 
12. Patrol plans and demand will be more effectively managed by a command team led 

by a Chief Inspector. 
 
13. Incident attendance times are currently assessed and graded by the Contact 

Management Department. They are: 
 

• Grade 1: Immediate Response – Attendance within 15 minutes 

• Grade 2: Priority Response: - Attendance within 60 minutes 

• Grade 3: Scheduled or diarised response. 

• Grade 4: Attendance not required 
 
14. The force aims to attend 80% of Grade 1 and 2 incidents within the target times. Over 

the last 12 months officers attended 82.4% of Grade 1 incidents and 75.5% of Grade 
2 incidents within those targets. In the new model, the PRT will only be deployed to 
Grade 1 and Grade 2 incidents. It is anticipated that a more effective assessment of 
calls at the point of contact will see an improvement in attendance times. 

 
 

56



 
 

 
15. Less urgent incidents, currently Graded 3, will be attended by officers from a new 

Managed Appointments Unit (MAU). The MAU will offer 132 same-day appointments 
daily. 

 
16. For local policing, the current beat structure will remain in place, ensuring that local 

communities will continue to have a named police officer or PCSO for their beat. This 
relationship is essential to the new model for policing. In the new model, the existing 
Local Policing Units have been reconfigured to eight Neighbourhood Policing Areas 
(NPAs), each commanded by an Inspector: 

 
Eastern Counties (incorporating Rutland, Melton and Market Harborough LPUs): 
Inspector Lou Cordiner 
 
Charnwood (incorporating Loughborough and Charnwood LPUs): Inspector Tracey 
Willetts 
 
North West (Coalville LPU) – Inspector Helena Bhakta 
 
Hinckley and Blaby (incorporating Hinckley and Blaby LPUs): Inspector Dan 
Eveleigh 
 
South Leicester (incorporating Welford Road and Wigston LPUs): Inspector Steve 
Bunn 
 
West Leicester (incorporating Beaumont Leys and Hinckley Road LPUs): Inspector 
Nicola Preston 
 
East Leicester (incorporating Spinney Hill and Keyham Lane LPUs): Inspector Ben 
Gillard 
 
Central Leicester (City Centre LPU): Inspector Simon Preston 
 

17. Each Neighbourhood Policing Area will have a team of police officers and PCSOs 
dedicated to local policing issues, working in partnership with the community to solve 
local problems and reduce crime and anti-social behaviour. 

 
18. In the current model a significant proportion of neighbourhood officers’ time is spent 

on non-core duties, such as crime investigation, backfill for response policing or 
processing detained persons in custody. 

 
19. In the new model, dedicated neighbourhood officers will be protected from those 

abstractions. The amount of time they spend patrolling their beats, visible and 
accessible to the community, will increase. 

 
20. While the headcount number of police officers on dedicated neighbourhood teams 

will reduce, the overall number of PCSOs is increasing. This reduction in the police 
officer headcount will be offset by the freeing up of neighbourhood officers’  time and 
the provision of additional services to communities. 

 
21. Each NPA will have its own Neighbourhood Priority Team (NPT) consisting of a 

Sergeant and 7 Police Constables. The NPTs will work proactively, led by 
intelligence, to address issues identified as priorities in their Neighbourhood Policing 
Area. 

 

57



 
 

22. All reported crime will now be managed by a single central team, the Investigation 
Management Unit, and investigated by specialist teams (e.g. Child Abuse 
Investigation Unit, Serious and Complex Crime) or by the Force Investigation Unit 
(FIU). These investigative teams will be responsible for processing all detained 
persons, which has hitherto been a significant abstraction for neighbourhood officers. 

 
23. The FIU is a large team based across three sites aligned to the three force custody 

centres at Euston Street, Keyham Lane and Beaumont Leys. The FIU will consist of 
uniformed officers and detectives. In the new model, FIU officers will be present and 
visible in communities conducting crime enquiries for which neighbourhood officers 
were previously responsible. 

 
 Communications Strategy  
 
24. Parish councillors across the force area have been kept informed of the progress of 

the Force Change Programme and have been invited to meetings, the last of which 
was held on December 9th, 2014, and to participate in email correspondence and 
online consultation.  

 
25. The Chief Constable has issued regular updates on the programme to partners 

across the force area. These updates have become more regular as the programme 
has progressed towards implementation. 

 
26. A formalised engagement plan was implemented in August 2014 (with other 

engagement prior to this). Senior officers from the Change Programme, Chief 
Superintendent Sally Healy and Chief Superintendent Stu Prior, have reported on 
progress of programme at all public meetings that they have attended (including the 
Joint Action Groups and District Council meetings). The Chief Constable has also 
presented the changes to specifically arranged meetings of partners in the city and 
county.  

 
Conclusion 
 

27. The calculated percentage of demand levels for all beats has been discussed with             
the management team for each area. Each beat has been given a ranking ranging 
from “Very Low” to “Very High” risks – the lower the percentage of overall demand 
the lower the category. Resourcing levels have been rebalanced to achieve 
maximum efficiency and public value for money. 

 
28. Of the 64 beat areas,  21 have been identified as “Low” or “Very Low” and 20 as 

“High” or “Very High”. Officer and PCSO numbers were decided according to this 
methodology.  

 
This work also allowed for decisions regarding the estates strategy, specifically:  

• Maximising income via sale or letting of surplus property 

• Actively seeking cost reductions and savings 

• The ‘right’ property being in the ‘right’ place according to public need 

• Levels of use of front office facilities 

• Amount of property required linked to reduction in officers and staff 

 

58



 
 

29. Against a challenging financial background, Leicestershire Police has sought to strike 
a balance between the needs of communities and the requirement to make 
substantial savings. The force’s approach has been commended by HM Inspector of 
Constabulary in its inspection of Police Effectiveness, Efficiency and Legitimacy 
(PEEL).  

 
30. Leicestershire, like every other police force in England and Wales, has had to rise to 

the challenge of austerity not by simply doing more with less, which is unsustainable 
in the long-term, but by delivering services differently. 

 
31. Through the Force Change Programme, Leicestershire Police, in the words of HMIC, 

“continues to develop its plans to address the future while protecting communities … 
has flexibility and agility in moving resources to address new and emerging threats”. 

 
Comments by Police & Crime Commissioner 
 
32. The Police & Crime commented as follows: 
 

“As the Panel can see from the above, a very great deal of thought, analysis and 
professional technical application lies behind the new Target Operating Model – and 
that statement goes just as much for city and urban areas as it does for rural 
locations. As far as the latter are concerned (given that the Panel’s question was 
somewhat narrowly focussed towards rural communities), my office and I have – 
throughout the Edison planning process – sought (and received) assurance from the 
Chief Constable that all communities will be suitably served; I have repeatedly 
received such assurance and, given my trust in the Chief Constable (and his top 
change-planning team), I am of the view that this new model will not result in a lower 
standard of delivery to our communities however I will expect my team to be part of 
regular reviews of the change programme as processes and procedures become 
embedded.  In fact, for all the reasons outlined above, I remain convinced that 
service users will benefit from this new operating model. I commend it unreservedly 
to the Panel.” 

 
Implications  
 
Financial: Savings forecast 
 
Legal: No Risk has been identified. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment: No Risk has been identified. 
 
Risk and impact: Full risk assessments have been conducted and continual work has been 
done on public reassurance and public confidence remains high. 
  
Link to Police and Crime Plan: None  
 
List of Appendices 
 
None  
 
Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
 

59



 
 

 
 
Person to Contact 
 

Name, PS 4681 Millward, Tel 0116 248 2051 
Email: laura.millward@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 
 
Name, Chief Constable Cole, Tel 0116 248 
2005 
Email: simon.cole@leicestershire.pnn.polie.uk 
 
 

60



 
 

POLICE & CRIME 

COMMISSIONER FOR 

LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  
 
 
Report of POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER (PCC)  

 
Subject CSE REVIEW – INTERIM UPDATE 

 

Date THURSDAY 29TH JANUARY 2015 AT 1.00 P.M. 
 

Author :  
 

SIR CLIVE LOADER 

 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. This report provides the Panel with an update on the work commissioned in late 
summer 2014 on Leicestershire Police’s review of historic Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) cases. 

  
Recommendation 
 
2. The Panel is asked to note the contents of this update. 

 
Background 
 
3. The Police and Crime Commissioner has recently been briefed by the Chief 

Constable and ACC Roger Bannister (who is the Senior Responsible Officer leading 
the Review).  The briefing was in respect of an Interim Report which the force has 
helpfully provided to Sir Clive and the OPCC Chief Executive.  The Review, which the 
force has named as Operation Sepia, has considered a large number of suspected 
child abuse cases which the force have logged and investigated over the past 25 
years or so. The force have examined three principal systems - those that record 
allegations of crimes themselves; one that records concerns over abuse for children; 
and one that records people who are reported missing. 

 
4. The Operation Sepia Review does not include those bigger major crime 

investigations which have already been investigated or are still being investigated, 
some detail of which has already appeared in the media.  Suffice to say these 
investigations have revealed some disturbing allegations of abuse and of course 
some convictions have been successfully brought in some cases.  This update 
therefore cannot comment on other live investigations. 

 
5. The early indications on Operation Sepia are that there have not been allegations of 

systematic abuse of vulnerable young people, committed by a pattern of groups of 
men which have failed to have been identified by the force.  However, it is apparent 

PAPER MARKED 

 

Agenda Item 861



 
 

that a small number of case files may need some further investigative work as a 
result of this initial review research. 

 
6. The Review is continuing and as a result of the required breadth and depth, it is 

unlikely to be completed until at least the end of February 2015.  At its conclusion the 
PCC has agreed with the Chief Constable that a full and final report will be 
presented, after which formal decisions will be made on any further work required, 
either by the force alone or collaboratively with relevant partners. 

 
 
 
Person to Contact 
 

Name: ACC Bannister, Tel 0116 248 2008 
Email: roger.bannister@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 
 
 
Name: Paul Stock, Tel 0116 229 8981 
Email: paul.stock@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk  

62


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 December 2014.
	5 Proposed Precept 2015/16 and Medium Term Financial Strategy.
	Appendix 1 - Budget and Precept 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Appendix 2 - OPCC Structure
	Appendix 3 - Capital Programme 2015-16 to 17-18
	Appendix 4 - Treasury Management Investment Strategy

	6 PCC Grant Applications 2015/16.
	Appendix A - PCC Grants

	7 Force Change Programme: Update.
	8 Child Sexual Exploitation - Interim Update.

